e wzq/zo

FC023527

Y irobank

EUROBANK ERGASIAS S.A.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2012

I

ROH"

BT

COMPANIES HOUSE

8 Othonos Street, Athens 105 57, Greece
www eurobank gr, Tel (+30) 210 333 7000
Company Registration No 000223001000




EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Consolidated Financlal Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012

e urobank

Index to the Consolidated Financlal Statements

Note

Consolidated Income Statement
Consclidated Balance Sheet
Consalidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consclidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Independent Auditor's Report
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 General information

2 Prnincipal accounting pohcies

3 Cntical accounting estimates and judgements in
applying accounting policies

4 Greek Economy Liquidity Support Program
5 Credit exposure to Greek sovereign debt

6 Greek Banks' recapitalisation

7 Finangial nsk management

Net interest income

9 Net banking fee and commission income
10 Income from non banking services

11 Net trading income and gains less losses from
investment securities

12 Operaling expenses

13 Staff costs

14 Other non recurring valuation losses
15 Income tax

16 Deterred income taxes

17 Discontinued operations

18 Earnings per share

19 Cash and balances with central banks
20 Cash and cash equivalents

21 Loans and advances (o banks

22  Finangial instruments at far value through profit or
loss {including trading)

23 Denvative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Page 2

Page
3

4

19
19
20
30
30
30

30

30
31
31
H
a2
32
k]
34
34
a4

34

Note

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

kL

36

a7

39

a0

41

42

43

a5

46

47

T

50

51

Loans and advances to customers

Provision for impatrment losses on loans and
advances to customers

Investment securities

Shares in subsidiary undertakings
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Other assels

Due to central banks

Dus to other banks

Due to customers

Debt 1ssued and other borrowed funds
Other liabihties

Standard legal staff retirement indemnity obligations

Ordinary share capital, share premium and treasury
shares

Preference shares
Preferred securiies
Share options
Special reserves

Transfers of financial assets

Advance contribution of Hellenic Financial Stability Fund

Operabing leases
Contingent habilies and cther commitments
Segment informatton

National Bank of Greece S A Votuntary Tender
Ofter (VTO)

Other significant and post balance sheat events
Related party transactions
Board of Direclors

Dividends

Page
36

36

a7
39
4
42
43
43
43
44
44
45
45

45

46
46
47

48

49
49
50

51

52
52
53

54

31 December 2p12 Consolidated Financial Statements




EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Consolidated Income Statement

& Eurobank

Interest iIncome
Interest expense
Net interest income

Banking fee and commisston income
Banking fee and commission expense
Net banking fee and commission income

Netinsurance income

Income from non banking services

Diwidend income

Net trading income

Gains less losses from invesiment securities
Other operating income

Operating income

Operating expenses

Profit from operations before impalrment on loans and advances gnd non

recurring valuation losses

Imparment losses on loans and advances

Impasrment and valuation losses on Greek sovereign exposure
Other non recurnng vatuation losses

Impasrment losses on goodwill asset

Share of results of joint ventures

Proiit/(loss) before tax

Income tax

Profit/{loss) for the year from continuing operations
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations

Net profit/{loss) for the year

Net prohit for the year attributable to non controling interest

Net profiti{loss) for the year atiributable to shareholders

Earnings/(losses) per share
-Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share

Earnings/{losses) per share from continuing operations
-Basic and diluted earnings/{losses) per share

Notes on pages 9 to 54 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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51 (56)
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EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Consolidated Balance Sheet @ Eurobank

ASSETS

Cash and balances with central banks

Loans and advances to banks

Financial instrurnents at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments

Loans and advances to customers 24 43,17 48,094
Investment secunties 26 9,469 11,383
Property, plant and equipmant 28 1,306 1,304
Intangible assets 29 406 465
Deferred tax asset 16 2,106 1,726
Other asseis 30 1,839 1,255
Total assets 67,653 76,822
LIABILITIES

Duse to central banks 31 29,047 32,525
Due to other banks a2 2,772 3,406
Derivative financial instruments 23 2,677 3,013

Due to customers 33 30,752 32,459

Debt 1ssued and other borrowed funds 34 1,365 2,671

Other liabilihes 35 1,695 1,873
Total liabllities 68,308 75,947
EQUITY

Ordinary share capital 37 1,222 1,226
Share premium 37 1,451 1,439
Other reserves (4,922) {3,763)
Preference shares 38 950 950

Preterred secunties 39 367 745
Non controlling interest 277 278
Total {655) 875
Total equity and liabllities 67,653 76,822

Notes on pages 9 to 54 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Consolidated Statement ot Comprehensive Income

Protit/{loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income
Cash flow hedges

- net changes In farr value, net of tax
- transfer to net profit, net of tax

Avallable tor sale securities
- net changes in farr value, net of tax
- imparment losses on Greek sovereign debt transfer to
net profit, net of tax
- impairment losses an gther investment securities
transfer to net profit, net of tax

transfer to net profit, net of tax

Foreign currency translation
- net changes in fair value, net of tax
- transfer to net profit, net of tax

QOther comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive Income for the year attributable to
Sharehclders

- from continuing operations

- from discontinued operations

Non controlling interest
- from continuing operations
- from discontinued operations

Notas on pages 9 to 54 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2012

e robankc

Balance at 1 January 2011

Other comprehensive income

for the year - - 445 - - - 0 445

Profit/{loss) for the year - - - {5,508) - - 12 (5,496)

Total comprebensive iIncome for the

year ended 31 December 2011 - - 445 {5,508) - - 12 (5,051)

Acquisitions/changes In participating

interests in subsidiary and associated

undertakings 73 2 - (28) - {46) (3)

Share capital decrease by reducing the

ordinary shares’ par value (3286) - 79 247 - - -

Purchase/sale of preferred secunties,

net of tax - - - 21 - {46) - {25)

Preterence shares' and preferred

securtes' dividend paid, net of tax - - - (124) - . (124)

Diwidends distributed by subsidianes

attributable to non contrelling interast - - - - - - {10) Qo)

Share-based paymant

- Value of employee services - - n - . R (1

Purchase of treasury shares (4) 1 - - - - - (3

Sale of treasury shares, net of tax and

related expenses 5 0 - (7) - - - 2

Transters between reserves - - 109 {109) - - - -
{252) (1 187 0 - (46) (56) {168}

Balance at 31 December 2011 1,226 1,439 1,276 {5,039) 950 745 278 875

Balance at 1 January 2012 1,226 1,439 1,276 (5,039) 950 745 278 875

QOther comprehensive income

for the year - - 124 - B - N 123

Profit/(loss) for the year - - - (1,453) - - 13 {1,440)

Total comprehensive income for the

year ended 31 December 2012 - - 124 {1,453) - - 12 {1,317)

Acquisitions/changes in participating

interests in subsidiary undertakings - - - {0) - - (2) 2

Purchase/sale of preferred securities,

net of tax - - - 210 - (378) - {168)

Preterred securities’ dvidend paid,

net of tax - - - (28) - . - (28)

Dundends distributed by substdianes

atiributable to non controlling interest - - - - - - (11} an

Share-based payment

- Value of employee services - - (2} - - - - {2}

Purchase of treasury shares {6) 3 - - - - - {3

Sale of treasury shares, net of tax and

related expenses 2 9 - (10) - - - 1

Transters between reserves - - {207) 207 - - - -

(4) 12 _(209) 379 - (378) (13) (213)
Balance at 31 December 2012 1,222 1,451 1,191 (6,113) 950 367 277 (655)
Note 37 Note 37 Note 41 Note 38 Note 39

Notes on pages 9 o 54 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2012

& urobank

e

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest receved and net trading receipts 3,088 3,773
Interest pad (2,170) (2,292)
Feges and commissions received 438 551
Fees and commissions paid (158) (149)
Other income received 2 1]
Cash payments to employees and suppliers (942) (992)
Income taxes paid (31) (60)
Cash flows fram continuing operating profits before changes 1n operating assets and habilities 227 a31
Changes In operating assets and liabilities

Net {increase)/decrease in cash and balances with central banks 1,238 {1,016)
Net {increase)/decrease in financial instruments at farr value through profit or loss (234) 147
Net {increase)/decrease in loans and advances to banks 1,144 1,121
Net {increase)/decrease in loans and advances toc customers 2,115 1,875
Net {increase)/decrease in dernvative financial instruments {261) {284)
Net {increase)/decrease in other assets {592) (234)
Net increase/(decrease) in due to banks (3,390) 8,549
Net increasse/{decrease) in due to customers {1,010) {8.915)
Net increase/{decrease) in other habihties {178) {210)
Net cash from/{used in) continuing operating activities {941) 1,864
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets {170) {210)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 6 13
(Purchases)/sales and redemptions of investment secunties 1,785 27
Acquisition of subsidiary undartakings net of cash acquired and jont ventures {0) (n
Disposal of foreign operations, net of cash and cash equivalents disposed {31) 388
Dividends from investrment securities and [oint ventures 4 5
Net cash trom/{used in) continuing investing activities 1,594 222
Cash flows from financing activities

{Repayments)/proceeds from debt 1ssued and other borrowed funds (1,295) (2.849)
Purchase of preferred secunties {160) {26)
Proceeds from sale of preferred secunties - 2
Preference shares’ and preferred secunties dividend paid {38) (145)
Purchase of treasury shares (3 (3
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares 1 5
Net contributions by non controlling nterest (11) {10}
Net cash from/{used in) continulng financlng activities {1,506} (3,026)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (16} {13}
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations (869) {933)
Net cash flows from discontinued operating activities (281) (93)
Net cash flows from discontinued investing activities 240 126
Net Increasef{decrease) In cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations (41) 33
Cash and cash equivalenis at beginning of year 20 3,124 4,044
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 20 2,214 3,124

Notes on pages 8 to 54 form an integral part of these consohdated financial statements
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Shareholders of Eurobank Ergasias S A.

Report on the Financlal Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Eurobank Ergasias (the “Bank™) and 1ts subsidianes (the “Group”) set out on pages 3 1o 7 and 9 to 54
which compnise the consolidated balance sheet as of 31 Dacember 2012 and the consolidated income statement, statement of comprehensive Income, statement
of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management 1s responsible for the preparation and far presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
as adopted by the European Union, and for such internal control as management determines 1s necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

Auditor's Responsibility

Cur responsibility 1s to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 1o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from matanal misstatoment

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements The procedures selecled depend
on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the nsks of matenal misstatement of the financial statements, whether dus to fraud or error In making those
rnsk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relavant to the entity’s preparation and far presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's Internal control An audht
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting esimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall prasentaton of the financial statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtainad 1s sufficient and appropriate 1o provide a basss for our audit opinion

Opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying financia! statements present farrly, m all matenal respecis, the financial posibon oi the Group as of December 31, 2012, and its
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Internanonal Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union

Emphasis of matter

Without qualiying our opinion, we draw attention fo the disclosures made in notes 2a, 5 and 6 to the financial statements, which refer to the impact of the
impairment losses rasulting from the Greek soverexgn debt restructuring on the Group's regulatory capital, the current and planned actions 1o restore the capital
adequacy of the Group and the existing uncertainties thal could adverssly affect the going concern assumption until the completion of the recapitalisation process

Reterence on Other Legal Matters

{a}  Included in the Board of Directors' Report Is the corporate governance statement that contains the informanon that 1s required by paragraph 3d of article
43a of Codified Law 219071920

{b)  Wae venfied the conformity and consistency of the information given in the Board of Directors' report with the accompanying financial statemenis in
accordance with the requirements of articles 43a, 108 and 37 of Codified Law 2190/1920

Athens, 29 March 2013

The Certified Auditor-Agcountant

Kyrnakos Ring
SOEL Reg No 12111

e

pwC

PricewaterhouseCoopers
268 Kifissias Avenue

15 232 Halandn
SOELReg No 113
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EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements g Eurobank

(a}

Genera! information

Eurcbank Ergasias S A (the “Bank”) and its subsidianes (the “Group™} are active in retail, corporate and private banking, asset management, insurance, treasury, capital
markats and other services The Bank 1s incorporated in Greece and its shares are listed on the Athens Stock Exchange The Group operates manly in Greece and in
Central, Eastern and Southeastern Eurcpe The Bank's corparate name was amended on 2 August 2012 from "EFG Eurcbank Ergasias S A" to “Eurcbank Ergasias SA ",
following the Annual General Meeting's resolution on 23 June 2012

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2013

Principal accounting policies

The prncipal accounting policres applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out balow

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared n accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 1ssued by the 1ASB, as
endorsed by the European Union {EU), and in particular with those IFRSs and IFRIC interpretations issued and effective or 1ssued and early adopted as at the time of
preparning these statements

Going concern considerations

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis In making its assessment of the Group s ability to continue as a going concern, the Board of
Dirsctors has 1aken into consideratian the impact of the following factors

Solvency ngk

The Group has incurred substantial imparment losses as a rasult of the Mellenic Republic’s debt restructuning (PSl+) Such losses had a respective impact on the
accounting and regulatory capital of the Group as of 31 December 2011 which fell below the minimum capital requirements as determined by the Bank of Greece (BoG)

Capital needs of the Group were assessed by BoG at the level of € 5,838 million, m order 1o be able to actueve the level of Cora Tier | capital of 9% throughout the period
1o end of 2014 This assessment takes (nto account, inter alia, the PSI impairment losses, the results of Blackreck s diagnostic review and the Group's business plan which
also includes certain capital strangthening actions

The Hellenic Financial Stability Fund (HFSF) has already advanced to the Bank EFSF notes of total € 5,311 million as advance payment of i1s participation in the future
share capital increase of the Bank The said advance qualifies as Tier | capital and brings the Core Tier | capital above the current minimum requirement In additon, HFSF
provided to the Bank a commitment letter far additionat capital support of € 528 million up to the total level of recapitalisation needs of € 5,839 million

Regarding the stated racapitalization process the Bank expects that the formal process for both the merger of Eurobank and NBG, and the capual increase, will have
started within the set deadiines

Liguidity nsk

The inabiiity of the Greek banks to gain access to the inernational capital and money markets and the reduchon of deposits due to heightened sovereign nsk and
deterioration of the Greek economy led to an increased rellance of the Group to Eurosystem financing facilites These conditons pose a significant ongoing higuidity
challenge for the Group and the Greek Banking system in general The Group expects that the European Central Bank (ECB) and BoG facilities will continue 1o be
avalable, untl the narmalzation of market conditions

Other economig yncertaintieg

The continued detericration of the Greek economy has adversely affected the Group's operations and presents significant nsks and challenges for the years ahead
Currently, there are a number of matenal economic and market nsks and uncernainties that impact the Greek Banking system The matn nsks stem from the adverse
macroeconomic environment, the developments on the eurozone sovere:gn debt crisis and the success, or otherwise, of the significant fiscal adjustment eftorts and ther
impact on the Greek economy The significant progress made 1o date could be compromised by external shocks from the global economy as well as implementation nsks
and reform fatigue in Greece Tha restoratian of confidence, after the approval of the EFSF disbursement amounting to € 48 1 bn by the Euregroup on 13 December 2012,
the attraction of new investments and the revival ol economic growth remain key challenges of the Greek sconomy

Continuation of the recession could adversely affect the region and could lead to lower profitability, detenoration of asset quality and a further reduction of deposits In
addition, increased funding cost remains a sigruficant nsk, as 1t 1s dependen: on bath the level of sovereign spreads as well as on loreign exchange rate nsk, due to the
unstable natura of same currencies

Notwithstanding the conditions and uncertainties mentioned abave, the Directors, having considered the mitigating factors set out below, have a reasonable expectation
that the recapitalisation of the Group will be promptly and successiully completed and hence are satstied that the financial statements of the Group can be prepared on a
going concern basis

(a} the BoG's recommendation of 18 Apnl 2012 and 23 May 2012 for the Group s accession to the provisions of arlicle 6 par 8 and 10 respectively of Law 3864/2010 as
amended (Establishment of the Hellenic Financial Stabilty Fund-HFSF and Recapitalisation of Greek financial instizutions),

(b) the HFSF's advance contnbution of € 5,311 millon and the HFSF's commitment letter for € 528 million, following the relevant applications submitied by the Group
and the confirmation racaved by the BeG about the wiabilty and credibitity of the Group's business plan in order to ensure that the Group 1s sufficiently capitalized to
a minimum level of 9% (Core Tier I},

(¢) the avalability of additional recapitahisation funds from the athicial sector that can support any capital needs on top of the amounts already commutted by HFSF,

(d) the existence of the comprehensive finangial support program of the EC/ECB/IMF (including the € 50 bn recapialisation facity), aming to correct Greece
compettiveness gap and restore growth, employment and public debt sustainability and secure the banking system’s stability,

(e) the Greek authorities commitment to support the banking system and create a viable and weil capial:sed private banking sector, and
() the Group's continued access to Euresystem funding (ECB and ELA hquidity facihties) over the foreseeable future
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EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m

2

{a)

{b)

Principal accounting policies {continued)

Basis of preparation (continued}

The policies st out below have been consistently applied to the years 2012 and 2011 Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes
In prasentation in the current year

{a) Amended and new standards and interpretations effective in 2012 for EU
- IFAS 7, Amendment Disclosuras, Transiers ol Financial Assets

(b) Standards and interpretations ssued but not yet effective for EU

- IAS 1, Amendment - Presentation of tems of Other Comprehensive Income (eflective 1 January 2013)

- I1AS 12, Amendment - Deterred tax Recovery of Underlying Assets (effective 1 January 2013}

- IAS 19, Amandment - Employee Banefits (etfective t January 2013)

- |IAS 27, Amendment - Separate Financial Stataments (effactive 1 January 2014)

- |IAS 28, Amendment - Investments in Associates and Joint Veniures (effective 1 January 2014)

- IAS 32, Amendment - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (effective 1 January 2014}

- IFRS 7, Amendment - Disclosures, Offseting Finan¢ial Assets and Financial Liabilties {effective 1 January 2013)

- IFAS 9, Financial Instruments {effective 1 January 2015, not yet endorsed by EU)

- IFAS 9 and IFRS 7, Amendment Mandatory Effective Date and Transition Disclosures {effective 1 January 2015 not yet endorsed by EU}
- IFRS 10, Consohdated Financial Statements (eflactive 1 January 2014)

- IFAS 11, Joint Arrangements {effective 1 January 2014)

- IFAS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective 1 January 2014}

- IFRS 13, Farr Value Measurement (sffective 1 January 2013}

- IFRS 10, 11 and 12 Amendments - Consolidated Financial Statements, Jaint Arrangements and Disclosure of Interests in Other Entties Transition Guidance (effective 1
January 2013 not yet endorsed by EU)

- IFRS 10, 12 and |AS 27 Amendments - Investment Entities (effective 1 January 2014, not yet endorsed by EU)

= Annual Impravaments to IFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle (effective 1 January 2013, not yet endorsed by EU)

IFRS 9 i1s pan of IASB's project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instrumenis which has not been finalised yet and as a result, 1t 1s not practicable to quantify its impact The
application of the other above mentioned standards and interpretations 1s not expected to have a matenal impact on the Group's financial staterments in the penod of the
initial application

The consoldated tinancial statements are prepared under the histoncal cost convention as medified by the revaluation of avadable-tor-sale inanctal assets and of financial
assots and financial labilities {including dernwvative instruments) at fair-value through profit or-loss

The preparation of financiat statements in contormity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reponted amounts of assets and labilimes and
disclosure of contingent liabihties at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses dunng the raporting pencd Although these
estimates are based on management's best knawledge of current events and achions, actual results ultimately may differ from those esimates

The Group s presentation currency 1s the Euro (€} being the functional currency of the parent company Except as indicated, financial information presented in Euro has
been rounded to the nearest million

Consolidation
1) Subsidiarles

Subsidiary undertakings are enut:es over which the Group, directly or indirectly, has the power to exercise control over therr financial and operating policies generally
accompanying & shareholding of more than ene hall of the voling nghts The existence and effect of potential voting nights that are currently exercisable or convertible arg
considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity Subsidianes are fully consolidated from the date onwhich control 1s transterred to the Group and are
no longer consolidatad from the date that control ceases Total comprehensive income 1s attnbuted to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the nen cantrolling interests having a deficit balance

The purchase method of accounting s used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group The consideration transterred for an acquisition 18 measured at the
farr value of the assels given, equity instruments 1ssued or exchanged and habilties undertaken at the date of acquisition, including the farr value of assets or labilties
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement Acquwsition related costs are expensed as ncurred Identifiable assets acquired and liabilites and contingent
llabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initally at therr fair values at the acquisiion date irmespective of the extent of any non contralling Interest Any
praviously held interast in the acquiree is remeasured to far value at the acquisition date with any gain or loss recognised in the income statement The Group recognises
on an acquisition-by acquisiion basis any non-controlling interast in the acquires either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest s proportionate share of the acquiree’s
net assets

The excess of the consideration fransferred, the amount of any non-contralling interest n the acquiree and the acquisition-date far value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the far value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary acquired 1s recorded as goodwill If this 1s less than the far value of the net assets of the
acquiree, the difference 15 recognised directly in the income statement Finangial assets or financial habiities resulting from contingent consideration arrangements are
measured at far valua, with changes in fair value in¢luded in the income statermant

Intercompany transactions, balances and intragroup gains on fransactions betwaen Group companies are eliminated, intragroup losses are also elmmated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred

Commitments to purchase non centroling interests through denvative financial tnstruments with the non controfling interests, as part of a business combination are
accounted for as a financ:al labiity, with no non controlling Interest recogmised for reporting purpeses The kinancial liability 1s measured at far value using valuation
techniques based an best estimates avalable to management Any difference between the far vatue of the financial habiity upon iital recognition and the nerminal non-
controlling interest's share of nat assets 1s racognised as part of goodwill Subsequent revisions o the valuation of the denvatives are recognised in the income statement,
except for business combinations with an acquisiton date up ta 31 December 2009, where such changes adjust the camyang amount of goodwill

The Group sponsors the formalion of special purpose entities, which may or may not be directly owned subsidianes for the purpose of asset secuntisation (accounting
palicy (x} below) The entities may acquire assets directly from the Bank These companies are bankruptcy-remote entitiss and are consolidated in the Group's Financial
Staternents when the substance of the relationship betwean the Group and the antity indicates that the entity I1s controlled by the Group

Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies of the Group
A listing of the Bank's subsidianes 15 set out in hote 27
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EUROBANK ERGASIAS 5 A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements g Eurobank

2

(b)

(c)

(d}

Principal accounting policies {continued)

Consolidation (continued)

(1} Transactons with non-comrolling interests

Changes in the Group's ownarship interest in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of cortrol are recorded as equity transactions and any difference batween the
consideration and the share of the new net assets acquired I1s recorded directly in equity Gains of losses ansing from disposals of ownership interest that do not result in a
loss of contra! by the Group are also recorded directly In equity For disposals of ownership interests that result In a foss of cantral the Group recognises gains and losses
in the iIncome staterment When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the equity 1s remeasured to its far value, wih any changes in the carrying amount
recognised in the ncome statement

(m) Assoclates

Investments in associated undertakings are accounted for by the equity method of accounting in the consolidated financial statements These are undertakings over which
the Group exetcises signticant influence but which are not controlled

Equity accounting invalves recognising in the income statement the Group’s share of the associate's profit or loss for the year The Group's interest in the associate 15
camed on the balance sheet at an amount that reflects 1ts share of the net assets of the associate and any goodwill dentified on acquisition net of any accumulated
impairment losses If the Group s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds Its interest in the associate, the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate When the Group abtains or ceases to have significant influence, any previcusly heid
or ratained interest in the entity 15 remeasured te s far value, with any change in the carrying amaunt recognised in the income statement Wherse necessary the
accounting policies used by the associates have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies of the Group

(iv) Joint ventures

The Group's inferest in jointly cantrolled entities are accounted for by the equity method of accounting in the conscldated financial statements and are treated as
associates Where necessary the accounting policies used by the joint ventures have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies of the Group

A listing of the Group's joint ventures 15 set out in note 30

Foreign currencies

(1} Translation of foreign subslidiaries

In the consolidated financial statements the assets and liabiities of foreign subsidianes are translaled into the Group's presentation currency using the exchange rate
ruling at the Balance Sheet date Income and expenses are translated at the average rates of exchange for the reporting pencd

Exchange differences ansing from the retranstation of the net investment in foreign subs:diaries including exchange differences of monetary tems receivable or payable to
a foreign operatien for which settlement is nenther planned nor likely to ocour, that form part of the net investment in foreign subsidianes, are taken to "Other comprehensive
income” Such exchange differencas are released to the income statement on disposal of the foreign operation or for monetary items that form part of the net investment in
the foreign operation, on repayment or when settlement 1s expected to occur

(1) Transactions in foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are transiated into the functianal currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settiement of such transactions are recagrised in the iIncome statement

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated (n foreign currencies hava been translated into the functional currengy at the market rates of exchange ruling at the balance
sheet date and sxchange differences are accounted for in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net
investment hadge

Non monetary assets and lhabiliies have been translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at intal recogrition, except far non-menetary items
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at far value which have been translated using the rate of exchange at the date the far value was determined The
exchange differences relating to these items are treated as part of the change in fair value and they are recogrised in the income statement or recorded directly in equity
depending on the classification of the non-monetary item

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Dernvative financial instruments, including foreign exchange contracts, forward currency agreements and interest rate options (both watten and purchased), currency and
interest rate swaps, and other denvative financial instruments, are initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
inta and subsequently are re-measured at therr far value Fair values are obtained from quoted market pnces, including recent market transactions, discounted cash flow
models and options pricing madels as appropriate All derivatives are carried as assets when farr value 1s positive and as labiiies when far value 18 negative

The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at imbial regogmition 1s the transaction prce (i e , the fair value of the considaration given or receved) unless the farr value
of that instrument 1s evidenced by comparison with other cbservable current market transactions in the same instrument (1 8 , without modiication or repackaging) or based
on a valuation technigue whose varables include only data from observable markets

Certain denvatives, embedded in other financial instruments, are treated as separate derivatives when their nsks and charactenstics are not closely related to those of the
host contract and the host contract 1s not carned at far value through profit or loss These embedded denvatives are measured at far value with changes in farr value
racognised in the inceme statement

The method of recognising the resulting far value gain or loss depends on whether the denvative 1s designated and qualifies as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature
of the tem being hedged The Group designates certain denvatives as (a) hedges of the exposure to changes in far value of recognised assets or liabilities or
unrecognised firm commitments (far value hedge), (b) hedges of the exposure to vanability in cash flows of recagnised assets or labilities or highly probable farecasted
transactions (cash flow hedge), or, {c) hedges of the exposure to vanability in the value of a net investment in a foreign eperation associated with the translation of the
nvestment's carrying amount in the Group's funchional currency Hedge accounting 1s used for denvatives designated in this way, provided certain cntena are met

The Group documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged stems, as well as 1its sk management objective and
strategy for undertaking vanous hedge transactions The Group alse documents s assessment, both at hedge incepton and on an ongoing basis, of whether the
derivatives thal are used in hedging transactions are highly effective In offsetting changes i fair values or cash flows of hedged items
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Principal aceounting policies {continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)
(i} Fair vaiue hedge

Changes i the fair value of denvatives that are designated and qualify as farr value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with any changes in the fair
value of the hedged asset or lability that are attnbutable to the hedged nsk

If the hedge no longer meets the critena for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrymg amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest methoed 18 used 1s
amortised to profit or loss over the period to matunty The adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest methad 1s not used remains
until the disposal of the equily secunty

(i) Cash flow hedge

The eftective portion of changes in the far value of denvatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income The
gain or loss relating to the ineflective portion 1s recognised immadately in the income statement

Amounts accumulated in equity are recyclsd to the income statament 1n the penods 1n which the hedged item will affact profit or loss (for exampla, when the foracast sale
that Is hedged takes place)

When a hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the cntena for hedge accounting, any cumulatve gan or loss existing in equity at that time
remains in equity and (s recognised when the forecast transaction 1s ultimately recognised in tha incoma statement

When a forecast transacuon 1s no longer expected to oceur, the cumulative gain or loss thal was reported In equity Is immediately transtarred to the income statement

(iff} Net investment hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations, including hedges of monetary items that form part of the net investments in the foreign operations, are accounted for
similarly to cash flow hedges Any gain or loss on the hedging instrumant relating to the effective portion of the hedge s retogrused in equity, the gain or loss relating to the
inetfective portion 1s recogrused immediately in the ncame statermert Gains and losses accumulated (n equity are included in the income statement when the foreign
operation (s dispased of as part of the gain or loss on the disposal

{lv) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain denvative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting Changes in the farr value of any denvative instrument that does not quality for hedge accounting are
racognised immediately in the income statement

The tar values of derivativa instruments held for trading and hedging purposes are disclosed in note 23

Ofisetting financial instruments

Financial assets and labilues are offset and the net amount 1s presented in the balance sheet when there 1s a legally enforceable nght to ofiset the recognised amounts
and there 1s an intention to settle on a net bass, or realise the asset and settle the hability simuitaneously

tncome statement

(I} Interest Income and expensesg

Interest mcome and expenses are recognised in the income statement for all interest beanng nstruments on an accruals basis, using the effective interest rate method
The etiective interest rate I1s the rate that exactly discounis estmated future cash payments or receipts through the expected Iife of the financial instrument or, when
appropriate, a shorter period 10 the net carrying amount of the financal asset or financial hability When calcutating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash
flows eonsidering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider future credit losses The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received
between parties 1o the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts

Once a hinancial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, Interest income Is recognised using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measunng the impairment loss

(#i) Fees and commissions

Fees and commissions are generally recogmised on an accruals basis Commissions and fees relating to foraign exchange transactions, imponts exports, remittances, bank
charges and brekerage actvities are recognised on the completion of the underiying transaction

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses Costincludes expenditure that i1s directly attributable
to the acquisition of the asset Subsequent expenditure 1s recogrised in the asset's carrying amount only when it 1s probable that future ecanomic benefits will fiow to the
Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised In INcome slalement as expanses as occumed

Depreciation 1s calculated using the straight-ine method to wnte down the cost of property, plant and equipment, to their residual values over their estmated useful ile as
follows

- Land No depreciation

- Froeshald bulldings 40-50 years

- Leasehc!d mpravements over the lease term or the usefu! Iife of the asset if shortar

- Computer hardware and software 4-10 years

- Other furniture and equipment 4 20 years

- Motar vehicles 5-7 years

Property, plant and equipment are penodically reviewed tor impawment, with any imparment chargs being recognised immediately in the income statement

Property held for rental yields and/or capital appreciation that (s not occupied by the companies of the Group 1s classified as nvestment propenly Investment property 18
camed at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses
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Principal accounting policies {continued)

Intangible assets

{1} Goodwill

For business combinations completed fram 1 January 2010, goodwill represents the excess of the aggregats of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest and the fair value of any previously held equity interest In the acquiree over the fair value of the net identiiable assets of the acquired
undertaking at the date of acquision Goodwill an acquisitions of subsidianes 1s included in ‘intangible assets Goodwill on acquisitions of associates 1s included in
Investmaents in asseciates”

Goodwill s measured at cost less accumutated impawment losses For the purpose of impairment 1esung, goodwill 1s allocated 1o cash generating units or groups of cash
generating units The allocation 1s made (o those cash generating units or groups of cash generating units that are expected 1o benafit from the business combination in
which goodwill arose The carrying amount of goodwill Is re assessed annually as well as whenever a trigger event has been observed for impairment Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold

(i) Computer software

Costs associated with the maintenance of existing computer software programs are expansed as incurred Devalopment costs associated with the preduction of identihable
and unigue products controlied by the Group, that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyend one year, are recognised as intangibla assels and are
amortised using the straight-line method over 4 years, except for core systems whose uselul life may extend up to 10 years

(iii} Other Intangible assets

Other intangible assets are assets that are separable or anse from contractual or other legal nghts and are amortised over therr estimated useful lves These include
ntangble assets acquired in business combinations

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following IAS 39 categories financial assets at far-value-thraugh-profit-or loss, loans and recevables, held to matunty
investments, and available-lor-sale financial assets Management determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition

{I} Financial assets at fair vailue through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categonies financial assets held for trading, and those designated at far value through profit or loss upon initial recognition A financial asset Is
classified as held for trading if acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short term or if it 1s par of a portfolio of identiied financial Instruments
that are managed together and for which there I1s evidence of a recent actual pattern of short term profit-taking Denvatives are also categonsed as held for trading unless
they are designated and effective as hedging instruments

The Group designates certain inancial assets upon inital recogrition as at far value-through-profit-or-toss when any of the following apply

a) 1t elmmnates or sigruficantly reduces measurement or recognition Incansistencies, or
b) tinancial assets share the same nsks with inancial habikties and those nsks are managed and evaluated on a fair vatus basis |, or
c) structured products containing embedded denvatives that could significantly modity the cash flows of the host cortract

() Loans and receivables

Loans and recewables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than those that the Group
upon nitiat recognition designates as at fair value-through-profit-or-loss and those that the Group upon inihal recognition designates as avadlable-for sale Securihies
classified in this category are presented in Investment Securnities undar Dabt Secunties Lending portfolio

(1} Held-to-maturnity

Held-to matunty investrents are non-dervative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed matunties that the Group's management has the positive
intention and abiity to held to matunty if the Group were to sell other than an insigniicant amount of held to matunty assets, the ente category would be tainted and
reclassified as available-for-sale

fiv} Avallable-for-sale

Avaltable for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an ndefinite penod of tme, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest
rates, exchange rates or equity pnces

Accounting treatment and calculation

Purchases and sales of knancial assels are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commis to purchase or sell the asset Loans anginated by the Group
are recognised when cash 1s advanced 1o the borrowers Financial assets are initally recognised at fair vatue plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carnied at fair
valug through profit or-loss Financial assets are derecognised when the nghts to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expwed or where the Group has
transierred substantially all nsks and rewards of ownership

Avallable for-sale hinancial assets and financial assets at fair-valua-through profit-or-loss are subsequently carried at far value Loans and receivables and held-to matunty
Investments are carned at amortised cost using the effective snterest method Gains and losses ansing from changes In the fair value ¢f the financial assets at far value-
through-profit or loss' category are included in the income statement in the pencd in which they anse Gans and losses ansing from changes in the fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets are recognised directly in equity, untl the financial asset 1s derecognised or impared at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
recagrused n equity 1s recognised in prefit or loss However, interest calculated using the effective interest rate method s recognised in the income statement

Dwvidends on equity instruments are recognised in the income statement when the entity’s nght to receve payment 1s establshed

The fair values of quoted investmants in active markets are based on current bid pnces If the market for a financial asset 1s not active (and for uniisted secunties), the
Group establishes far value by using valuation techniques These include the use of recent arm s length transactions, relerence to the current farr value of another
Instrument that i1s substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, option preing models and other valuation techniques commaonly used by market participants
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Principal accounting policies {continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there 1s objective evidence that a financial asset or group of inancial assets 1s impaired A financial asset or a
group of financial assets 1s impawed and impairment losses are incurred f there 1s ohyective evidence of mparmant as a result of ore or more events that accurred after
the initsal recagnition of the asset {a loss event ) and that loss event {or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset er group of fmancial
assets that can be reliably estimated Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets 1s impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the
Group about the following loss avents

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor,

b) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or pnncipal payments,

¢) the Group grantung to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, a concession that the lender would not ¢therwise
consider,

d) it becoming probable that the barrower will enter bankruptcy or other inancial reorganisation,

e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties, or

f} observable data indicating that there 15 a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets since the irtal recognition of
those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identiied with the indvidua! finangial assets in the group, nesluding
- adverse changes n the payment status of borrowers in the group, or
- national ar local ecenomic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group

{I) Assets carried st amortised cost

The Group first assesses whether objective ewdence of imparrment exists indwdually for financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for
financial assets that are not indwidually sigruficant f the Group determines that ne cbjective ewidence of impairment exsts for an indiwdually assessed financal asset
whether significant or not, It Includes the asset In a group of inancial assets with similar credit nsk charactenstics and collectively assesses them for iImpairment Assets
that are individually assessed for imparment and for which an impaument loss 1s ar continues to be recogrised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment

If there Is obyjective evidence that an imparment Joss on loans and recevables or held to matunty investments carred at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of
the loss 1s measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estmated tulure cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not bean incurred) discounted at the financial asset’'s onginal eflecuve interest rate The carrying amount of the asset rs reduced through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss 1s recogrised in the income statement I a loan or hald to-matunty investment has a vanable intarest rate, the discount rate for measunng any
imparrment loss 15 the current effective Interest rata datermined under the contract As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on tha basis of an
nstrument's fair value using an observable market pnce

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collaterahsed financial asset reflects the cash flows that may resuit from foreclosure less costs
for obtaining and selling the collateral whether or not foreclosure 1s probable

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar cradit nsk charactensties {1 e, on the basis of the Group's
grading process that considers asset type, Industry geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors) Those characteristics are relevant 1o
the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtars' ability 1o pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the
assets baing evaluated

Future cash flows In a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for imparment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets n the
greup and histoncal loss expenence for assets with credit nsk charactenstics similar to those in the group Histoncal loss expenence Is adjusted on the basis of current
sbservable data to reflect the effects of current condiions that did not affect the penod on which the histonical loss expenence Is based and to remave the effects of
conditians in the historical penod that do not exist eurrently

Estimates of changes in future cash flaws for groups of assets should reflect and be directionally consistent with changes n related observable data from penod to peried
{tor example, changes (n unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses in the group and thew
magnitude) The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between lass
estimates and actual loss experience

When a Joan I1s uncollectible, it 1s wotten off against the related provision for loan impairment Such loans are wntten ofl after all the necessary procedures have been
completed and the amouni of the oss has been determined Subsequent recovenes of amaunts previously written off decrease the amount of the prowision for loan
impairment in the Income statement

If, n a subsequent penod, the amount of tha impairment lass dacreases and the decrease can be related ebjectively 1o an event occurring after the i/mparrment was
recognised {such as an improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously racognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account The amount
of the revarsal 1s recagnised In the income statement

() Avaliable-for-sale assets

In case of equity and debt investments classifiad as avallable-for-sals, a significant or prolenged declne in the fair value of the secunty below its cost 1s considered i
determining whether the assets are impaired If any such evidence exists for available for sale financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously regogrised in profit or loss — 1s removed from equity and
recognised n the income statement Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on eguity Investments are not reversed through the income statement H,1n a
subsequent penod, the farr value of a debt instrument classified as avalable for sale increases and the increase can be cbjectively related to an event occurring after the
inparment lass was recagnised 1n profit or loss, the impairment loss 1s reversed through the income statement

Sale and repurchase agreements and securities lending

(i) Sale and repurchase agreements

Securities sald subject to repurchase agreements { repas’) cantinue to be recorded in the Group s Balance Sheet while the counterparty hiability 1s included in amounts due
to other barnks or due 1o customers, as appropriate Secunities purchased under agreements to resell {“reverse repos”) are recorded as loans and advances to other banks
or customers as appropriate The diffarence betwean the sale and repurchase price 1s treated as Interest and accrued over the penod of the repo agreements using the
eftective interest method

() Securitles lending

Secunities lent to counterparties are retaned n the financial statements Secunties borrowed are not recogrised in the financial statements, unless these are sold to third
parties, in which case the purchase and sale are recorded with the gan or loss included n trading ;come The abligation to retum them 1s recorded at fair value as a
trading habiity
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Principal accounting policles (continued)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial labilites in the following categonies fnancial habilies measured at amoriised cost and financial labiites at fair-value through profit-or-
loss Financial labilties at far value through-profit-or loss have two sub categones financial liabilties held for trading and financial habilines designated at fair value-
through-profit-or loss upon mital recognition

The Group designates tinancral habilities at fair value through-profit-or-oss when any of the following apply

a) it elminates or significantly reduces measurement of recognition inconsistencies, or

b) financial hiabilites share the same nsks with financial assets and those nsks are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis, or
€) structured products containing embedded denvatives that could significantly modify the cash flows of the host contract

Financial habilihes are derecognised when the cbligation speciied in the relevant contract 1s discharged, cancelled or expires

Leases

(1} Accounting for leases as lessee

Finance leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantally all tha nsks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases Finance leases are
capitalised at the mception of the lease at the lower of the far value of the leased asset or the presert value of the minmum lease payments Each lease payment 1s
allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a canstant rate on the finance balance outstanding The interest element of the finance cost 1s charged
to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant penodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the hability for each perod The property,
plant and equipment acquired under finance lsases 15 depreciated over the sharter of the useful life of the asset or the lease tarm

Operating leases
Leases where a significant portion of the nsks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases Payments made under operating
leases {net of any Incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a siraght-ine basis over the period of the lease

{11) Accounting lor leases as lessor

Finance ieases

When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments 1s recognised as a recevable The differenca between the gross receivable
and the present value of the recevable (s recognised as unearned finance Income Lease income 15 racognised over the term of the lease using the net nvestment
method, which reflects a constant penadic rate of return

Oparating leases

Assets leased out under operaling leases are (ncluded in property, plant and equipment in the balance sheet They are depreciated over their expected useful ives on a
basis consisient with similar owned praparty, plant and equipment Rental income (net of any iIncentives given to lessees) is recogrised on a straight-line basis aver the
lease term

Income tax

{1} Current income tax

Income tax payable on profits, based on the applicable tax law in each junsdiction 1s recogrised as an expense in the penod In which profits anse The tax effects of income
tax losses avarlable for carry forward are recognised as an asset when it s probable that future taxable prohts will be avaitable against which these losses can be utiised

(1) Deterred income tax

Deferred income tax 1s provided in full, using the liabihty method, on temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and llabilites and their carrying amounts
n the consolidated financial statements Deferred tax assets and habiihes are measured at the tax rates that are expecled to apply to the pencd when the asset 1s realsed
or the hability 1s settled, based on tax rates {and tax laws) that have been enacted or substankvely enacted by the balance sheet date The principal temporary differences
arse from impairment of financial assets, depreciation of fixed assets, pension and other retiremant benefit obhgations, and revaluation of certain financial assets and
habilities, including dearvative instruments

Deferred tax assels are recognised where 1t 1s probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the tamporary differences ean be utiised Deterred tax
related to changes in farr values of avallable for-sale investments and cash flow hedges which are recognised 1o other comprehensive incama 1s also recogmised to other
comprehensive income, and 1s subsequently recognised in the Income statement together with the deferred gain or loss

Employee benelits

{i) Pension obligations

The Group provides a number of defined contrnbution pension plans where annual contributions are Invested and allacated to specific asset categores Eligible employees
are entitled to the overall performance of the investment The Group's contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense in the year in which they are pad

(i1} Standard legal staff retirement indemnity obflgations (SLSRI}

In accordance with the local labour legislation, the Group provides far staff retrement indemnity cbhigation for employees which are entitied to a lump sum payment based
on the number of years of service and the level of remuneration at the date of retrement, if they remain in the employment of the Group untit normal retrement age
Provision has besn made for the actuarial value of the lump sum payable on retrement (SLSRI) using the projected unit credit methad Under this methad the cost of
providing retirement indemnities 1s charged ta the Income statemant so as to spread the cost over the pernod of service of the employees, in accordance with the actuanal
valuations which are performed every year The SLSRI obligation is calculated as the present value of the esimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high rated
Eurapean carporate secunties which have terms 1o matunty approximating the terms of the related liabiiity Actuanal gains and lasses that anse in calculating the Group's
obligatan in respect of the SLSRI obligations are charged directly in the profit and lass far the year

in addiuan, the Group has enhanced the above provision by taking into consideration potential separations before normal retirement based on the terms of previous
voluntary separation schemes The Group recognises separation indemnity when it 1s demonstrably committed to separations either according to detalled formal plans
which are announced and cannot be withdrawn or as a result of mutuaily agreed termination terms Benefits payable in mere than 12 months from the balance sheet date
are discounted to present value
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Principal accounting pehicies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
(i) Performance-based cash payments

The Group's Management awards high performing employees with bonuses in cash, from tme to ume, on a discretionary basis Cash payments requirng only
Management approval are recogrnised as employee benefit expenses on an accrual basis Cash payments requinng General Meeting approval as destribution of profits to
staft are recognised as employee benefit expense in the accounting penad that they are approved by the Group's shareholders

fiv} Performance-based share-based payments

The Group's Management awards employees with bonuses 11 the form of shares and share optons on a discretionary basis Non-performance related shares vest in the
period granted Share based paymenis that are contingent upon the achievement of a performance and service condition, vest only i both conditions are satisfied

The tarr value of the shares granted 1s recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding sngrease in share capial (par value) and share premium

The fair value of the options granted 1s recognised as an employee beneiit expense with a comasponding increase n a nan-distnbutable reserve over the vesting penod
The proceeds recerved net of any directly attnbutable transaction costs are credited 1o share caputal (par value) and share premium when the options are exercised, with a
transfer of the non distnbutable reserve to share premium

Insurance activities

{1} Revenue recognition

For casualty, property and short-duraton Iife insurance contracts, premiums are recogrised as revenue (earned premiums) proportionally aver the period of coverage The
portion ef premium received on In torce contracts that relates to unexpired risks at the balance sheet date Is reported as the unearned premium hability Premiums are
shown before deduction of commission or reinsurance prermium ceded

For long term nsurance contracts, premiums are recognised as revenus when they become payable by the contract holder Premiums are shown before deduction of
commission A lability far contractual benefits that are expected to be ncurred in the future 1s recorded when the insurance contract 1s in force and the premiums are
recagnised

(i) Insurance Habilities
Insurance reserves are classified as tollows

Mathematical reserves

Mathematical reserves represent Insurance provisiens for lang-term life insurance contracts They are calculated In accordance with actuanal techniques, after taking into
account the technical assumphions imposed by supervisory autharities (mortality tables and the technical interest rate), in effact at the contract s inception, as the ditference
between the actuanal present value of the contract’s labiiies and the present value of the premiums io be receved

Unearned premium and unexpired nsk reserves

Unearned premiums reserves represant the part of the premium written for short term Iie, and property and casually insurance contracts, that relates to the period beyend
the reporting date until the termination of the period covered by the respective premium of the contract An addiional provisian for unexpired risks 1s made when it 15
anticipated that unearned premiums will be insufficient 1o meet future losses and loss adjustment expenses of business in force at the reparting date

Outstanding ¢lams’ reserves

Outstanding claims’ reserves are set for labilities on clams meurred and reported but not tully settled by the end of the reporting period The speciied habiites are
examined on a case-by-case basis by professional valuers, based an existing information (loss adjustors' reports, medical reports, court decisions setc) The Group
recognises additional provisions regarding claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) by the end of the reporting period The calculation of these provigions is based on
statistical maethodologies

(#il) Liability adequacy

At each reporting date, the Group performs a hability adequacy test (LAT') to assess whather 1t recogrised insurance habilities are adequate by using current estmates of
future cash flows including related handling costs If that assessment shows that the carrying amount of its insurance liabiities 1s inadequate in the light of the estmated
future cash flows, the entire deficiency 1s recognised in the income statement

(iv) Remnsurance

Contracts entered into by the Group with reinsurers under which the Group 1s compensated for losses on ane or more contracts issued by the Group and that meet the
classilication requirements for insurance contracts are classified as reinsurance coniracts held

The benefits to which the Group s entitied under its reinsurance contracts held are recognised as reinsurance assets These assets consist of short term balances due
from reingurers, as well as longer term receivables that are dependent on the expected claims and benefits arising under the related reinsured Insurance contracts
Amounts recovarable from or due to rensurers are measured consistantly wih the amounts associated with the reinsured nsurance contracts and n accordance with the
terms of each reinsurance contract Remnsurance llabililies are pnmasly premiums payable for reinsurance contracts and are rocognised as an expense when due

The Group assesses its rensurance assets for impairment at each reporting date If there 1s objective avidence that the rensurance asset 1s impaired, the Group reduces
the carrying amount of the rensurance asset 1o 1ts recoverable amount and recogrises that impairment loss in the Income stalement

Repossessed properties

Land and bulldings repossessed through an auction process to recover impaired loans are, except whare otherwise stated, included in "Other Assets™ Assets acquired
from an auction process are held temporarly for iquidation and are valued at the lower of cost and net reahsable valua Any gains or losses on iqudation are included in
“Other operating income”

Related party transactlons

Related partes include associates, fellow subsidianes, directors and key management personnel, theis close families, companies owned or controlied by them and
comparies whose financial and operating pelicies they can influence Transactions of similar nature are disclosed on an aggregate basis All banking transactons entered
into with related parties are in the normal course of business and on an aren's length basis

Provisions

Provisions are recogmsed when the Group has a present legal or constructive abligation as a result of past avents, 1115 probable that an outflow of resources embadying
economic benefits will be required 1o settle the obligation, and reliable astimates of the amount of the obligation can be made
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(b)

Principal accounting policies (continued)

Segment reporting

A segment )s a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may eam revenue and incur expenses within a parbcular eegnomic environment
Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal repers about componants ol the entity that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order
to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance The chief cperating decision maker has been identfied as the Strategic Planning Group {SPG) that
makes strategic decisions The Group 1S arganised into five main business segments Segmant revenus, segment expanses and segment performance include transfers
between business segments Such transfers are accounted for at competitive prices in ine with charges to unaftiliated customers lor similar services

Share capital

Ordinary shares and preference shares are classified as equity
Incremental costs directly atinbutable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax

Dividend distribution on shares 1s recognised as a deduction n the Group's equity when approved by the Group's shareholders Intenm dividends are recognised as a
deduction in the Group's equity when approved by the Board of Directors

Where any Group company purchases the Company's equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental costs
{net of Income taxes), 1s deducted from sharehclders' equity until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued,
any consideration receved 15 included in shareholders’ equity

Preferred securities

Prefarred secunties 1ssued by the Group are classified as equity when there 1s no contractual obligation to deliver to the holder ¢ash or another inancial asset
Incremental costs directly atinbutable to the 1ssue of new preferred secunties are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax

Dividend distribution on preferred secunties s recognised as a deduction in the Group’s equity on the date itis due

Where preferred secuntes, 1ssued by the Group, are repurchased, the consideration pard inciuding any directly attnbutable incremental costs (net of income taxes), is
deducted from shareholders’ equity Where such secunties are subsequently called or sold any consideration recewved 1s included in shareholdars squity

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specitied payments to reimburse the holder for a loss 1t incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payments when due, 1n accordance with the terms of a debt instrument Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and other bodies ¢n
behalt of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking faciites

Financial guarantees are imitally recogmsed in the financial statemants at far value on the date the guaraniee was given Subsequent to imitial recognition, the Group s
lrabultties under such guarantees are measurad at the higher of the inital measurement less amortisation calculated to recognise in the income statement the fee income
earned on a straight line basis aver the life of the guarantee and the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle any inancial abligation ansing at the balance sheet
date These estimates are determined based on expenence of similar fransactions and histary of past losses, supplemented by the judgment of Management Any
mncrease in the habilty relating to guaranieas 1s taken o the income statement

Securitisations

The Group secuntises financial assets, which generally results in the sale of the assets to special purpose entities (accounting policy b (i), which, in turn 1ssue debt
secunties to investors and In some Instances to Group companies These securiisations are afl consolidated by the Group as it 15 exposed to the majonty of nsks and
rewards of ownership in the speciaf purpose entities

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highty iquid investments with enginal matunties of three manths or less,
and bank drafts

Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policles

In the process of applying the Group's actounting policies, the Groups Management makes vanous judgments, esimates and assumptions that aflect the reported
amounts of assets and kabilties recogrused in the financial statements within the next financial year Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
histoncal experience and other factors, including expectations af future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Group reviews s lean portfol:ios to assess impairment continuously In determining whether an imparrment loss shou'd be recerded in the income statement, the
Group makes judgments as to whether there is any observable data ndicating there 1s measurable decreass 0 the estmated future cash flaws fram a porticlio of loans
belore the decrease can be identiied with an individual loan 1n that portfolio This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change
in the payment status of borrowers in & group, or national or local economic canditions that comelate with defaults on assats in the group Management uses estimates
based on histoncal loss experience for assets with cradit nsk charactenstics and objective ewidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future
cash flows The methodology and assumptions used for esumating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences
between loss estimates and actual loss experience

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group assesses annually whether there 1s an indication of goodwill impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2 h () The recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units are determined based on value in use calculations These calculations are based on proftabihty and cash flow projections, which require
the use of estmates such as growth rates for revenues and expenses and profit margins
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Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policies (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

The farr value of financial instruments that are not quoted n an active market are determined by using valuation technigues in these cases, the fair values are estimated
from aobservable data In respect of simiar financial instruments or using models Where market observable inputs are not avalable, they are estimated based on
appropnate assumptions Where valuation techniques are used to determine fair values, they are validated and penodicatly reviewed by qualified personnal independent of
the personnal that created them All models are certified beifore they are used, and models are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual data and comparative marke:
prices To the extent practicable, models use only observable data, hewever areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty) volatilities and correlations require
management 1o make estimates Changes in assumptions about these factors could atlect the reperted tar value of financial instruments

Impalrment of available-for-gale equity investments

The Group determines that available-for-sale equity iInvestments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the {ar value of the equity
Investmants below their cost In determining what 1s significant or prolonged the Group's management exercises judgment In making this judgment, the Group evaluates
among ather factors, the normal volatlity in share price In addition, impairment may be appropnate when there i1s objective ewidance of detenoration in the financial health
of the mvestee, Industry and sector performance, changes in technalogy, and operatienal and inancing cash flows

Securitisations and consolidation of special purpose entities

The Group sponsors the formation of special purpose entities (SPEs) for vanaus purposes inctuding asset secuntisation The Group may or may not directly own the SPEs
and consolidates those SPEs that t controls En determining whether the Group controls an SPE, it makes judgments about iis exposure 10 the nsks and rewards related 10
the SPE and about its ability to make operational decisions for the SPE in question

Income taxes

The Group 1s subject to Income laxes in vanous junsdictions and estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination 1s uncertan dunng the ordinary course of business The Group recognizes labiibes for anticipated tax audit 1ssues
based on estmates of whether addiuonal taxes will be dua Where the final tax outcoms of these matters 1s ditferent from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and defarred tax provisions in the panod in which such determination 1s made

Retirement beneflt obligations

The present value of the retwement benefit obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuanal basis using a number of assumptions Any
changes in these assumptions will mpact tha carying amount of pensian obligations

The assumptions used In detenmuning the net cost income) for pensions include the discount rate, future salary increases and inflation rate The Group determines the
appropnate discount rate at the end of each year In determining the appropnate discount rate the Graup uses interest rates of high rated European corporate securties
which have terms 10 matunty approximating the terms of the related Irability Other Xey assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions

Share-based payments

The Group grants shares and share aptions to the employees as a common feature of employee remuneration IFRS 2 requires recognition of an expanse for those shares
and share options at the fair value on the grant date (equity settled plans) For shares granted to empfoyees the far value 15 measured directly at the market price of the
entity § sharas, adjusted to take into account the terms and conditions upon which the shares were granted For share aptions granted to employees, n many cases market
prices are not avallable because the options granted are subject to terms and conditons that do not apply to traded options |f this (s the case the Group estimates the far
value of the equity Instruments granted using a valuation technique, which 1s cansistent with generally accepted valuation methodologies

Greek Economy Liguidity Support Program

The Bank participates in the Greek Governments plan to suppor liquidity n the Greek economy under Law 3723/2008, as amended by Laws 3844/2010, 3845/2010,
3872/2010, 3965/2011 and 4093/2012 and extended by Ministenal decision 57126/B 2421/28 12 2012, as follows

(a) First stream - preference shares
345,500,000 ron-voting preference shares with naminal valua of € 950 milhon were subscnbed 1o by the Hellente Republic on 21 May 2008 (note 28)

(b) Second stream bonds guaranteed by the Helfenic Republic
As at 31 December 2012, the government guaranteed bands, totalling to € 16,276 million, were fully ratamed by the Bank and its subsidianes (note 34) In February
2013, government guaranteed bonds amounting to € 2,344 million, matured

(c) Third stream - lending of Greek Government bonds
Ligwdity obtained under this stream must be used 1o fund mortgages and lcans to small and medium-size enterprises As of 29 December 2011, there were no
special Graek Government bonds borrowed by the Bank

Under Law 3723/2008, as amendad by Law 3865/201 1, for tha period the Bank participates in the program through the preference sharss or the guaranteed bonds
{streams (a) and (b} above), the Gevernment 18 antitied to appoint its representate ta the Board of Directors, veto strategic decisions, decisians which alter substantally
the legal or financial positon of the Bank and require the General Assembly's approval and dividend distnbutions as well as restnct management remuneration

In addition, under Law 3756/2008, as amended by Law 3844/2010 and supplemented by Laws 3965/2011 and 4063/2012, banks parbeipating n the Greek Economy
Liquidity Suppest Program are nei allowed to declarg a cash dividend to their ordinary shareholders for 2008 to 2011, and are not allowed 1o acquire treasury shares under
article 16 of the Gompany Law The restniction regarding the declaration of a cash dividand 1s extanded to 2012 via a legisiative provision, which i1s expected to be enacted
by the Parliament shortly

Page 18 31 December 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements




EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements g Eurobank

Credit exposure to Greek sovereign debt
Greek Government bonds exchanged under PSl+ in 2012

On 21 February 2012 Euro Area finance ministers agreed on a baill out program for Greece, including financial assistance from the official sector and a voluntary debt
exchanga agreed with the Private Secior

The key tarms and conditions of the final voluntary debt exchange package (PSl+) were as follows

{a) For every bond selected to participate in PS!+, 53 5% of the face amount was forgiven, 31 5% of the face amount was exchanged with new bonds of equal face
amount 1ssued by Greece and the remaining 15% was exchanged with shori-term secunties 1ssued by the European Financial Stability Facility (EFSF)

(b} The coupon on the new Greek Government Bonds {(nGGBs) was 2% from 2012 to 2015, nsing to 3% from 2015 to 2020, 3 65% for 2021 and 4 3% unll 2042,
{c}) Accrued interest on the exchanged bonds was settled through the 1ssue of shart-term EFSF secunities,

{d) The nGGBs were issued in 20 separate tranches with staggered bullat matunties commencing in 2023 and ending in 2042 to replicate an amortisation of 5% per
annum on the aggregate amount of the nGGBs,

(8) The nGGBs ranked pan passu with the EFSF € 30 bn loan 1o Greece contnbuting to the PSl+ exercise,
{fi nGGBs were subject to English Law,
(9) Each new bond was accompanied by a detachable GDP-linked secunty of the same notional amount as the face amount of the new bond

The support program aimed at ensunng debt sustainability and restonng competitveness, allowing Greece to achieve sirici hiscal consolidation targets and the
implamentation of privatization plans and structural reforms

The invitation for tender was launched on 24 February 2012 and the bonds invited 1o participate in PSl+ had an aggregate outstanding face amaunt of approximately € 206
bn Greek and foreign law bonds of approximately € 199 bn were eventually exchanged

Under Law 4046/2012, the tax losses ansing fram the bend exchange under the PSI+ program will be tax deductible n egual instalments over the life of the new bonds
recewved Irrespective of the holding peried of the bonds

The exchange program of Greek Government bonds and other eligible securmes {PSl+) prowided evidence of a cancession granted to the borrower (the Greek State) by
the lender refating 1o the borrower s inancial difficulty that the lender would not otherwise consrder Theratfore, following the Bank's participatien in the program, the Group
recogrused an imparment loss of € 5,779 million before tax, as of 31 December 2011, for GGBs and other sacunties of face value € 7,336 million exchanged in 2012 under
PSl+

Under this exchanga, in March/Apnl 2012, the Group received a) new Greek government bonds (nGGBs) with face value equal to 31 5% af the face amount of the old
bonds b) EFSF notes having a face amount of 15% of the face value of the old bonds and ¢} GDP-linked secunties  All exchanged bonds ware derecognised and the new
GGBs, classified In the Held to Matunty portioho, recogrised at fair value In 2012 and, following the international financial community's view that the market for nGGBs &
active, the Group recognised an additonal valuation loss of € 428 milion based on market quotes at the date of recogniion GDP-lnked secunties were classified as
denvatives Furthermore, tha Group incurred additional costs (extra funding cost, cost relating to ald GGBs hedging istruments} amounting to € 12 million due to its
participation in the PSl+ exchange program As at 31 December 2012, and considenng 2011 impact, total loss from PSl+ has amounted 1o € € 2 bn

Following the Eurogroup's decisions on 27 November 2012 as part of debt reduction measures, the Greek State announced on 3 December 2012 an invitation to eligible
holders of nGGBs to submit offers to exchange such secunties for six months zero coupon notes to be 1ssued by the Eurcpean Financial Stability Fund (EFSF) On 18
December 2012, pursuant to the above inwitahion, nGGBs of aggregate face amount of € 31 9 bn were eventually exchanged for EFSF notes of face amount of € 11 3 bn

Under its participation to the Greek state s debt buyback program, the Group submitted for exchange the 100% of its nGGBs partfolio of total face value € 2 3 bn (carrying
amount € 0 6 bn} and recewved EFSF notes of total face value € 0 8bn The transaction resulted n a pre tax gamn of € 192 millon recorded in the tourth quarter ot 2012

Greek sovereign exposure

As at 31 December 2012, the total carrying value of Greek sovereign expesure amounted 1o € 6,041 mdtion This includes a) Treasury Bills of € 3,053 millon, b) GGBs of €
904 milion matunng 1n 2014 and 1ssued for the Greek State’s subscnplion to the Preterence Shares issued under Law 3723/2008 "Greek Econemy Liquidity Support
Program” These GGBs are expected to be rapaid in fult, ) other non PSl+ eligible GBBs of € 832 million, d) darivatives with the Greek State of € 724 milion e) exposure
of € 187 million relating with Graek Sovereign nsk financial guarantee, ) loans guaranteed by the Greek State of € 182 million, g} loans to Greek public sector of € 154
million and h) nGGBs of € 5§ milion included in trading portfolio

As at 31 Decembar 2012, the Group recognised a loss of € 115 million before tax relating with valuation losses for denvatives with the Greek State and for a Greek
sovereign nsk financial guarantee As at 31 December 2011, the Group recognised an impairment loss of € 232 miticn before tax relating with exposure to Greek
government and quas-governmental bodies, such as loans to Local and Regional authonties and loans guaranteed by the Greek state

Greek Banks' recapitalisation

Recapitalisation framewcrk and process

Given the sevenity of the impact of the Gresk Gavernmeant Bond exchange program {PSl+), on 21 February 2012 the Euro Area finance ministers allocated a fotal of € 50
bn of the setand support program for Gresce specifically for the recapitalisation of the Greek banking system These funds are directed to the Hellenic Financial Stability
Fund (HFSF) whose mandate has been extended and enhanced accordingly € 23 bn of these funds were remitted to Greece In tha second quarier of 2012, € 16 bnn
December 2012 whila the final € 11 bn are expected within next months

The Bank of Greece (BoG) has assessed the viability of each Greek bank and estimated its capital needs based on the mare demanding of (a} a minimum Core Tier | ratio
of 9% under the baseline scenario and (b) 7% under the adverse stress scenano, throughout the penod to end of 2014 Capital needs of sach bank were assessed based
on, Intar alia, the impac! of its participation in the PSh+ program, the results from the BlackRock loan diagnostic exercise, the viability of its business plan, and a detailed
umetable of miigating actions to restare solvency BoG and the Eurcpean Central Bank (ECB) assessed that the € 50 bn 1s adequate 1o over the capital needs, as above,
of the viable Greek Banks and the resolution of the non viable ones

In the meantime, the Impact of Gresk banks participation in the Greek Government Bends exchange program (PSl+) 1s such that they require a temporary hinancial support
from tha HFSF subject o the requirements provided by law and the presubscription agreement signed by each bank, the HFSF and the EFSF (see below}

The HFSF was established in 2010, in order 1o maintain the stability of the Greek banking system through ensunng that adequats resources are available to support viable
banks recapitalisation needs and participating in the capital increases tor any non-subscribed part
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Greek Banks' recapitalisation (continued)

Recapitalisation frarnework and process (continued)

Banks considered viable have bean given the opporiunity 16 apply for and recewve Core Tier I-ehgible capital fram the HFSF under a certain process Capital may take the
form of ordinary shares, contingent convertible financial instruments or ardinary shares with restncted voting nghts Ordinary shares with restncted voting nghts will only be
available if private investors contribute 10% of the capual raising at the nghts issue The votng nghts of the HFSF for the ordinary shares 1t holds, if the 10% thresheld
mentioned above 1s met, will be stnelly limited to specific strategic degisions on the condition that the bank adheres to 1ts restructuring plan and as long as contingent
convertible financial Instruments (CoCos) are nat mandatonly convened ta ordinary shares (ses below under (b)) The HFSF 15 obliged to dispose, fully or partly, of all the
shares it acquires within five years from the iniial nghts 1ssue covered by HFSF, of the required 10% private participation 1s met and wihin two years if nat In both cases the
disposal period may be extended by the Miruster of Finance

A Cabinet Act on 9 November 2012, agreed in consultation with the Traka (European Commussion, ECB and IMF}, provided the technical detalls of the banks
recapitahsation framework, as follows

{a) lssue of ordinary shares in arder to reach, as a minimum, Core Tier | capnial 6%, without including, for the purpose of this calculation the preterence shares 1ssued
under Law 3723/2008 and the contingent converibla inancial mstruments 1ssued under the current Act (see (D) below) The new shares, the uncavered part of
which will be covered by HFSF, will be priced at the lower of 1) the average price of tha last 50 trading days prior fo the date the offenng prce of the shares 15
determined, discounted by 50% and 1} the market pnice at the last date prior to the data the offenng pnce of the shares is datermined

(b} lIssue of contingent convertible financial instruments (CoCos) In order to cover the gap between the nghts’ Issue amount and the total capital needs ot the Bank as
set by BoG The CaCos will be fully paid by the HFSF and will give banks the nght to call the 1ssue at par plus interest subject to the relevant approval by BoG,
fallewing caprtal action or caprtal surplus The CoCos will carry an annual interest rate of 7%, which will increase by 0 5% per annum I consolidated profits for the
previous year do not sutfice and BoG assesses that payment may jeopardize CAD ratios, coupon will be payable i kind through 1ssuance ol ordinary shares at
average market pnee of the last 50 trading days pnor to the payment date

The CoCas will convert immediately to ordinary shares if the required 10% private participatien in nghts 1ssue 1s nat met, at 50% of the average market price ¢f the
last 50 trading days prior to the 1ssue of the CoCos, provided that their 15sue will take place prior to the ssue of ordinary shares On the assumption that 10% prvate
participation 15 met, the CoCos will convert to ordinary shares under the lollawing conditions 1) if the Bank decides not to pay coupon, at 65% of average market
pnce of the last 50 trading days pnor to the nterest cut off date, n) if Core Tier | or Basel Il Common Equity Tier | {alls below 7% ar 5 125% respactively, at 50% of
the price of the inital nghts 1ssue covered by HFSF and i) after five years, at 50% of the price of the initral nghts 1ssue covered by HFSF

(¢} lssue of warrants on all ordinary shares acquired by HFSF prowided that the requirement for 10% private participation (n rights 1ssuse 1s achieved The warrants are
1ssued 10 the pnvate participants in the nights’ 1ssue and are listed and tradable instruments which provide the shareholders/ warrant holders 1) the nght to purchase
the shares from HFSF within 4 5 years, twice a year at a strika prica equal 1o the principal amount plus 4%, which steps up by 1% per annum (warrant stnke price)
1) the pre-emption nght to purchase from HFSF the shares at the lower of warrant strike pnce and market value of last 50 days from HFSF's notice, In case HFSF
intends to sell them, following a 3 year minimum holding period

Non viable Banks will ba resolved by the HFSF, 1n an orderly manner and at the lowest cost 1o the State, in a way that ensures financial stability

To ensure that the system remains well-capitalized, the Bank of Greece has initiated, in March 2013, as prewously committed, a follow-up siress test exercise, based on
macro assumptions and performance through June 2013, and usng a methodology determined n consultation with the Traika (European Commussion, ECB, IMF), to be
concluded by end-December 2013

Eurobank's capital requirements

The Bank of Gresce, after assessing the business plan and the capital needs of Eurobank (the “Bank™} has concluded on 19 Apnl 2012 that Eurobank 15 a viable bank and,
an 8 November 2012, natified the Bark that its Tier | capital should increase by € 5,838 milicn The Bank, the HFSF and the European Financial Stability Faciity (*EFSF")
signed on 28 May 2012 and on 21 December 2012 a inlateral presubscription agreement (PSA} for the advance to the Bank of EFSF notes of face value of € 3,870 millon
and € 1,341 million {total € 5,311 millon) as advance payment of its partcipation In the future share capital increase of the Bank In addition, HFSF pravided to the Bank a
commitment letter for additional capital support of € 528 million up to the total lavel of recapitalisation needs of € 5839 milion Protorma with the full recapitahsation
amount of € 5,839 milion, on 31 December 2012 the Group's regulatory capital stands at € 4 4 bn, the Core Tiar | capital at € 4 1 bn, its Capital Adequacy ratio at 11 6%
and the Core Tier | ratio at 10 8%

Throughout 2012, the Group continued the implementaton of its medium term internal capita! generaling plan, which includes inibatives generating ar releasing Core Tier 1
capital and/or reducing Risk Weighted Assets A total of € 19 bn of capital has been craated/released since the onset of tha cnsis In addition, the Group 15 prepanng for a
capital raising, whose timing and structure will be finalised with National Bank of Greace (note 47}

Restructuring plan

The 28 May 2012 PSA (see above) was assessed as State Aid by the European Commission Theretore, along with the other viable banks, on 31 October 2012, Eurobank
submitted a draft five year restructuring plan to the HFSF, the Ministry of Finance and the European Commissian Folowing the annauncement of the NBG VTO, the
European Commission asked that the Greek banks plans are revisited and resubmisted for approval in the sacond quarter of 2013

Monitoring Trustee

On 22 February 2013, the Bank appointed Grant Thomton as its Monitonng Trustea (MT) The MT will moniter comphance with commiiments on corporate governance and
commercial operational practices, and the implementation of the restructuning plan and report to the European Commission

Financial risk management

Use of financial instruments

By their nature the Group's actvities are pnncipally related to the use of linancial instruments including demvatives The Group accepts deposits from cusiomers, at both
tixed and floating rates, and for vanous periods and seeks to earm above average interest margins by investing these funds in high quality assets The Group seeks to
Increase these margins by cansolidating shart-term funds and lending for longer penods at higher rates, while mantaning suficient higudity to meet all clams that might
fall due

The Group also seeks 1o raise its (nterest margins by obtaning above average margins, net of provisions, thraugh lending to commareial and retall barrowers within a range
of credit standing Such exposures include both an-balance sheet loans and advances and off balance sheet guarantees and other commitments such as letters of credit
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Financial risk management {continued}
Use of tinancial instruments {continued)

The Group also trades in tinanoal instruments where it takes posibions in traded and over the counter instruments, including denvatives, to take advantage of short-term
market movements in the equity and bond markets and in currency and interest rates The Eurobank's Risk Committee places trading imits on the level of exposure that
can be taken In relation to overnight and intra-day market pastions as well as lmits i longer durations With the excepton of specific hedging arrangements, foreign
exchange and interest rate exposures associated with these derivauves are normally concluded ta hedge outstanding positions, thereby controlling the vanabiity in the net
cash amounts required to offset market positions

Financial risk tactors

The Group's activities expose It to a vanety of financial nsks credit nsk, market nsk {including currency nsk and interast rate risk) and hquidity nsk The Groups overall nsk
management policies focus on the unpredictability of financizl markets and seek to mimmise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial perfarmance, financial
position and cash flows

Credit risk

The Group takes on exposure to credit nsk, which is the nsk that a counterparty will ba unable to pay amounts w full when due Impairment provisions are recogmised for
logses that have been ncurred at the balance sheet date Significant changes in the econgmy, or 1in the health of a particular industry segment that represents a
concentratian in the Group's portioli, could result in losses that are different from those provided for at the balance sheet date Management therefore carefully manages
It$ exposure to credit nsk

The Group structuras the levels of cradit nisk it undertakes by placing hmits an the amount of nsk accepted In relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to
poographical and industry segments Such nsks are monitored on a revelving basis and are subject to an annual or more frequent review The level of credit nsk by
product, industry sectar and by Gountry are reviewed quarterly by Eurabank's Risk Committee The exposure to any one borrower including banks and brokers 1s fusther
restricted by sub imits covering on and off balance sheet exposures, and daly delivery nsk hmits in relatien to trading items such as lorward foreign exchange contracts
Actual exposuras against imits are monitored on a dally basis

The Group 15 active in the corporate and retail lending markets Credit nisk 1s well spread aver a diversity of personal and commercial customers Exposure to cradit nsk 1s
managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowars and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing the lending limits
where appropnate The Group reduces its cradit nsk associated with loans and advances 1o customers by entering into collateralised arrangements The types of collateral
that the Group obtains are cash deposits and other cash equivalents, real eslate, receivables, secunties, vessels and bank guarantees

(a} Derivatives

The Group maintains contral mits on net cpen denvative positions s e , the differance between purchase and sale contracts, by both amount and term At any ons time, the
amount subjact to credit nsk 1s imited to the current far value of nstruments that are favourable o the Group (1 @ , denvatvas with a pesitive fair value) which in relation to
derwvatives 1s only a small proportion of the contract notional amount used to express the volume ol tnstruments outstanding The credit sk exposure 1s managed as part of
the overall lending imits with customers together with potential exposuras from market movements Collateral or other secunty 1S not usually obtained for credit nsk
exposures on these instruments, except where the Group requires margin deposits from counterparties Further details of the Group's denvative instruments are provided in
note 23

(b) Master netting arrangements

The Group further restncts its exposure to credit losses by enterng into master netting arrangements with counterparies with which it undertakes a significant volume of
transactions Master netting arrangements do not generally result in an offset of balance sheet assets and labilities, as transactions are usually settled on a gross basis
However, the credit nsk 1s reduced by a master netting agreement to the extent that if an event of default occurs all amounts with the couniemarty are termmated and
settied on a net basis The Group's averall exposure 1o credit nsk on denvative instruments subject to master netting arrangements can change substantially within a short
pariod, as 1t1s affected by each transaction subject to the arrangement

{c} Credit related commitments

The primary purpose of credit related commitments is 1o ensure that funds are avaslable 1o a customer as requued Guaraniees and standby letters of credit carry the same
cred:t nsk as loans since they represent irrevocable assurances that tha Group will maka payments in the event that a customer cannol mest its obligations to third parties
Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authonsing a third party to draw drafts on the Group up
to a stipulated amount under specific terms and condiions are $acurad by the underlying shipment of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less nsk than a loan
Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to extend credit in the form of leans, guarantees or letters of cradit tor which the Group usuzlly receives
a commitment fee Such commitments are rrevocable over the life of the facility or revacable only in response to a matenal adverse etfact

MaxImum exposure to credlt rlsk before coltateral held

Credit ngk axposures relating to on balance sheet assets are as follows

Loans and advances to banks 4,683 6988
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Debt secunties 403 260
Denvative financial instruments 1,888 1,818
Loans and advances to customers
- Wholgsale tending 19,742 22,485
- Mortgage lending 14,221 14 029
- Consumer lending 6,378 7.048

Smali business lending 7,500 7.929
Less Provision for imparrment losses (4,670) {3,397)
Investment securnties

Debt securities 9,160 11,058
Other assets 1,308 B78
Credit nsk exposures relaling to off balance sheet items {note 45) 1,705 2,400

62,328 71,495

The above table represents the maxmum credit risk exposure 1o the Group at 31 December 2012 and 2011, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit
enhancements that do not quahly for offset in the Group's inancial statements

For on balance sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the balance sheet Off-balance sheet items mentioned above
mclude letters of guarantes, standby letters of credit, commitments to extend credit and documentary credits

Page 21 31 December 2012 Consobidated Financial Statements




EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements g E uro b an k

72
721
7212

Financial risk management (continued})

Financial risk factors {continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances are summarised as follows

Neither past due nor imparred 28,129 34,742
Past due but not impaired 8,725 8,896
Impaired

- collectively assassed 5,408 4,113
- individually assessed 5,489 3,740
Gross 47,841 51,491

Less allowance for impairment (4,670) (3,397}
Net 43,171 48,094

Included in gross loans and advances are

Past due more than 90 days 10,818 7.898
Of which non-performing loans 8,729 6 224

The wholesale and small business loans as at 31 December 2012 are covered by collaterals at 49% and 70%, respectively (2011 48% and 70%, respectively) Consumer
Ioans are not collateralised, except for car loans where the Group retains ownership until full foan repayment Mortgage loans are fully collateratsed

(a2} Loans and advances neither past due nor impairad

The credit quality of the portfalio ot loars and advances that wers neither past due nor tmpaired at 31 December 2012 and 2011 can be assessed by reference to the

Group's standard grading system The fellowing information is based on that system
A 2011
{‘ g:;é%\m i 'J

Grades

Sausfactory nsk 27,436 33,749
Watch st and special mention 693 993
Total 28,129 34,742

(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired

Past due up to 29 days
Past due 30 89 days
Past due 90 180 days
Tota!

Fair value of collateral

Past due up to 29 days 1,219 1,733

Past due 30 89 days 1274 628
Past due 90 180 days 427 238
TFotal 2.920 2597
Fair value of collateral 1,889 5287

Based on past expenence, consumer and small business loans less than 90 days past due, and mortgage loans and fully collateralised wholesale loans less than 180 days
past due, are not considered impaired, unless specific Information indicates 10 the contrary

{c) Impaired loans and advances colfactvely assessed

For collectively assessed accounts, loans are trealed as impared based on historical loss data for groups of loans with similar charactenstics The critena used by the
Group to determine that thers 1s objective evidence of impairment are provided in Group s accounting policy 2 ()

The collectively assessed loans and advances to customers before taking inte consideration the cash flows from collateral held are € 5,498 millon (2011 € 4,113 mittion)
The braakdown of the gross amount of collectively assessed loans and advances by class, along with the far value of related collateral held by the Group as secunty are
as follows

Callectivaly assessed
loans 1,788 2,545 1,165 5,458 1,193 1,999 a 4,113
Farr value of collateral 2,857 - 651 3,518 1,898 - 436 2334
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Financlal risk management (continued)

Financial nsk factors {continued}

Credit nsk {continued)

Loans and advances to customers {continued)

(d} impaired loans and advances indwvrdually assessed

For indwidually assessed accounts, loans are treated as impaired as soon as there is objective avidence that an impairment loss has been incurred The entena used by
the Group to determine that there 1s objective evidence of impairment are provided 1n Group's accounting policy 2 (1)

The individually assessed loans and advances to customers before taking into consideration the cash flows from collateral held are € 5,489 million (2011 € 3,740 million)
The breakdown of the gross amount of individually assessed loans and advances by class, along with the far value cof related collateraf held by the Group as security, are
as follows

2,264 1,476 3,740
1,119 914 2,033

Indwidually assessed loans
Fair value of collateral

(e} Non-performing loans

Non-performing loans are defined as the loans delinquent for a given perod determined in accordance with the Group's policy Morigages are considered as non-
performing when they are delinguent for mare than 180 days and consumer loans for more than 90 days Loans ‘o corporate entities are considered as non perferming
when they are transferred to non accrual status which occurs when the loans are delinquent far more than 180 days or earlier in the case of a matenal credit event

- Wholesale iending

- Mortgage lending

- Consumer lending

- Small business lending
Total

{f} Forbearance practices on lending activities

Madifications of loans’ contractual terms may anse due to vanous factors, such as changes in market condions, customer retention and potential deteroration of the
borrowar s financial conditon Forbearance occurs In the cases where the contraciual payment terms of a loan have besn modified dua to financial difficulty of the
borrower Other renegotiations, more of a business nature are not considered as forbearance measures

As a consequence of the current financial and economic ¢nsis, the Group has developed and applied a number of forbearance options under 1ts rastructunng pragrams in
arder 1o enhance effectiveness of collection efforts, improve the recoverability and mimimize losses for both retail and whalesale portfolios

Forbearance aptions pravide barrowers with more favourable terms than the initial contracts, ke extended payment penods or payment hoiday, reduction in interest rates,
postponement of principal payment, conversians 1o interest only payments and debt consolidations These are granted folowing an assessment of the customer's ability
and wilingness to repay and can be of a temporary or longer term nature The goal is to assist financially stressed borrowers by decreasing therr monthly instalment and at
the same time, protect the Group from suffering credit losses

Restructuring agreements enter a probaton penod of six to twelve months, depending an the portiolio and the level of risk, where the payment performance is monitered
Dunng thts penied, leans are classiied as past due but nat impaired or impaired based on therr delinquency status At the end of the prabation penad the performance of
the restructured borrower 15 re-examined and tha loans that comply with the terms of the program cease to be considered restructured and are characterized as cured
loans

Restructured loans are separately monitared through Debt Remedial Management Committees which evaluate the effectiveness of forbearance programs continuously A
basic factar of the remadial management 1 the increase of collaterals, mamiy with real estate properties which improve the recoverabilty prospects Furthermore,
borrowers subject to farbearance measures, are required to repay at ieast one mstalment of the new arrangement

Restructurad programs are assessed for impairment under the Group's smpairment pelicies descnbed in accounting policies note 2()) and credit nsk note 7 2 1 Specifically
for retail loans, the collective imparment assessment reflects the nisk of higher losses The impairment assessment of the wholesale exposures 1S performed on an
individual basis taking into consideration various risk aspects {such as borrower's rating, adherence 1o the program and level of collaterals}

The table below summanzes exposures, subject to forbearance programs, excluding balances that have reverted to cured status

Past due but not impaired 1,647 1,480
- out of which loans with no days past due under naw lerms 919 850
impaired 2,210 1,513
Gross 3,857 2,993
Less allowance for impairment _{891) (580)
Net 2,966 2403
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7 Financial risk management {continued)

72 Financial risk factors (continued)
721 Creadit risk (continued)
7213 Debt Securities

The fallowing table presents an analysis of debt secunities by rating agency designation at 31 December 2012 and 201 1, based on Moody's ratngs or their equivalent

Aaa

Aal to Aa3
Alto A3
Lower than A3
Unrated

Total

Aaa

Aal to Aal
Al to A3
L.ower than A3
Unrated

Tatal

- 342 - 261 603
223 327 - 182 732
o 264 217 106 587
179 1,660 4,669 g40 7,368
1 261 1 - 273
403 2,874 4,897 1,389 9,563

- 599 - 453 1,052
. 19 83 192 294
Q 259 281 n 611
259 1,914 5.617 1,490 9,280
1 ikl - 81
260 2,860 5.992 2,206 11,318

€ 4,784 million included i secunties ratad Lower than A3, relates 10 Greek sovereign debt (2011 € 5,871 million), € 128 million relates to Insh and Porluguese sovereign
debt (2011 € 85 million), € 165 million relates to Cypriot sovereign debt {2011 € 163 milhan), while € 1,683 million relates to sovereign debt tssued mawnly by other Eurg-
zone members, European Union members and candidate members (2011 € 2,488 milbon)

7 214 Concentration of credit risk

(a) Geographical sectors

The fallowing table breaks down the Group's main credit exposure at their gross camying amounts, as categonsed by geographical region as at 31 Decernber 2012 and
2011 For this table, the Group has allocated exposurss to regions based on the country of domicile of its counterparties

Loans and advances to banks
Denvative inancial instruments
Loans and advances to customers
- Wholesale lending

- Mortgage lending

- Consumer lending

- Small business lending

Debt sacunties

Other assets

Total

Loans and advances 1o banks
Denvative financial instruments
Loans and advances to customers
- Wholasale lending

- Martgage lending

- Consumer lending

- Small business lending

Debt secunties

Other assets

Total

Page 24

14,007 825 4,478 432 19,742
12,091 62 2,089 19 14,224
5,020 3 1,335 0 6,378
6,470 0 1,030 0 7,500
5,154 2,191 2,015 203 9,563
1,196 LAl 68 3 1,308
44,862 7,169 12,027 1,235 65,283

EENAES

TllOTH
93 4,588 2,099 208 6,988
740 678 32 368 1,818
15,347 M3 5,880 345 22,485
11,793 67 2,150 19 14,029
5,568 0 1,470 10 7.048
6,683 0 1,246 0 7,929
6,208 1,947 2,976 187 11,318
740 35 102 1 878
47,172 8,228 15,955 1138 72,493
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Financial risk management {continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk {continued)
Concentration of credit risk {continued)

{b) Industry sectors

The following table breaks down the Group's main credit exposure at their gross ¢arrying amounts, as categonsed by the industry sectors of its counterparties as of 31
Dacember 2012 and 2014

Loans and advanges to banks 4,693 - - - - - 4,693
Denvative financial instruments 926 0 as 52 70 805 1,888
Loans and advances to customers

- Wholesale lending 11,285 473 4,254 970 2,005 755 19,742
- Mortgage lending - 14,221 - - - - 14,221
- Consumer lending - 6,378 - - - - 6,378
- Small business lending 6,276 152 617 - 416 39 7,500
Debt secunties 1,425 - 66 - 51 8,021 9,563
Other assets 334 8 1 - 1 964 1,308
Total 24,939 21,232 4,973 1,022 2,543 10,584 65,293

Loans and advances o banks 6,988 - - - - - 6,988
Derivative financial instruments 1014 1 50 77 60 616 1,818
Loans and advances to customers
Wholesale lending 12,918 548 4,922 1,033 2,294 770 22,485
Mortgage lending 14,029 . - - 14,029
Consumer lending 7,048 - - - - 7,048
Small business lending 6,563 257 831 - 414 64 7,929
Debt secunties 1,502 - 11 [¢] 54 9,751 11,318
Other assets 435 3 9 - 1] 440 878
Total 29,420 21 886 5614 1,110 2,822 11,641 72,493

Credit exposure to other industry sectors includes mainly sovereign assets

Market risk

The Group takes on exposure 10 markel nsks Market nsks anse from exposure on interest rate, currency and equity praducts or combination of them all of which are
exposed to general and specific market movements Specifically, the market nsks the Group 1s exposed to are the following
fa) interest rate risk

The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations 1n the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its inancial pesitions and cash flows Cash flow interest rate
nsk 1s the nigk that the future cash flows of a financial Instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market nterest rates Fair value interest rate nsk 1s the nsk that the
value of a financial Instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates The Eurcbank's Risk Committee sets imits on the level of interest rate nsk that
may be undertaken and exposures are monitored daily

(b) Currency risk

The Group takes on exposure to the effacts of fluctuations in the prevailing foresgn currancy exchange rates on its financial posiion and cash flows The Eurobank s Risk
Committee sets imits on the leval of expesures which are monitored daily

(c) Equity risk

Equity pnce nsk 1s the nsk of the decrease of fair values as a rasult of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual stocks The equity nsk that the
Group undenakes, arises mainly from the investment portichie The Eurcbank's Risk Committee sets imits on the level of the expasures which are moniigred daily

Market nsk in Greece and Cyprus 13 managed and monitored using Value at Risk {VaR) methodology Market risk in International operations 1s managed and monitored
using manly sensitivity analyses Information fram Internatonal operations Is presented separately as it onginates from significantly different economic environments with
different nsk charactenstics

(i) VaR summary for 2012 and 2011

VaR 1s a methodology used m measunng financial nsk by esimatng the potenbtial negaiive change in the market value of a portfolio at a given cenfidence level and over a
specified ime harzon The VaR that the Group measures 15 an astimate based upon a 99% confidence level and a helding penod of 1 day and the methodology used for
the calculation 1s Mante Carlo simulanen {full repnsing)

The VaR models are designed to measure market nsk in a normal market envirenment It 1s assumed that any changes occurring In the nsk factors aftecting the normal
market anvironment will follow & normal distribution

Although VaR 1s an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the model 1s based do give nse to certain imitations  Given this, actual outcomes
are monitored ragularly, via back testing process, to test the validity of the assumptions and the parameters used in the VaR calculation
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72 Financial risk factors (continued)
722 Market risk (continued)

Since VaR constitutes an integral part of the Group’s market nsk control regime, VaR imits have heen established for all (frading and investment partfolios) operations and
actual exposure is reviewed daily by management However, the usa of this approach does not prevent lesses outsida of these imits in the event of extraordinary market
movements

Average VaR by nsk type {Trading and Investmen porifohos'™) Greece and Cyprus

Interest Rate Risk
Foreign Exchange Risk
Equities Risk

Total VaR

" interest rate volatiity apphed to all portfohos Credit spread volatifity apphed to Trading and Available-for-sale positrons

The aggregate VaR of the interest rate, foreign exchange and equities VaR benefits from diversification effects

{ii} Sensitivity analysis for 2012 and 2011
Sensitivity analyses used for manitaring market nsk stemming from Imernational operations, excluding Cyprus, do not represent worst case scenanos
T DECEmBer, 2012 srit Jib datibng Priie JECOrDE

] {8 (11)

Interest Rate +100 bps parallel shift

Equities / Equity Indices / Mutual Funds  10% decrease on

prices {0) {0 (1] 0 @ W]
Foreign exchange 10% depreciation of functional currency

over farelgn currencies 10 {66) (56) 5 (92) {87)

723 Ligquidity risk

The Group 1s exposed o daily calls on its available cash resources due to deposits withdrawals, matunty of medium or long term notes, loan draw downs and guarantees
Furthermore, margin calls on secured funding transactions (with EGB and the market) and on nsk mitigation contracts (CSAs, GMRAs) result in liquidity exposure The
Group mantains cash resources 1o meet all of these needs The Eurobank's Risk Committee sets iquidity imits to ensure that sufficient funds are avalable to meet such
contingencies

Past exparience shows that liquidity requirements to support calls under guarantees and standby letters of credit are considerably less than the amount of the commitment

This 15 also the case with credit commitments where the outstanding contractual amount te extend credit does not necessanly represent future cash requirements, as
many of these commitments will expire or terminate without being funded

The matching and contrelled mismatching of the matuntes and interest rates of assets and labiites 18 fundamental to the management of the Group Il 18 uausual for
banks to be completely matched, as transacted business 1s often of uncertain term and of different types An unmatched pesition patantially enhances profitabiity, but also
increases tha nsk of losses

The matunties of assets and fiabiliies and the ability to replace, at an acceplable cost interest bearing habiliies as they mature, are important factors in assessing the
liquidity of the Group
Liquidity Risk Management Framework

The Group's Liguidity Risk Management Folicy defines the following supervisory and control structure

- Eurobank Risk Committes's role 1s to approve all strategic iquidity nsk management decisions and mornitor the quantitative and qualitative aspects of liquidity nsk

- Grroup Assets and Liabilties Commuttes has the mandate te form and implement the liquidity policies and guidelines in conformity with Group's nsk appetite, and to review
monthly the overall iquidity position of the Group

- Group Treasury 1s responsible for the implementation of the Group's lquidity strategy, the dally management of the Group s hquidity and for the preparation and
monitoring of the Group & liquidity budget

- Global Market and Counterparty Risk Sector is responsible for measurning, monitonng and reparting the liquidity of the Group

The following list summarises the reports which are produced on a periadic basis

(2) The regulatory liquidity gap report along with the regulatory iquidity ratios
(b) Stress test scenanos These scenarios evaluate the impact of a number of systemic stress events on the Group's hquidity position
{c) Ligquidity warning indicators

Assets held for managing liquidity nisk

The Group holds & diversified portfolio of cash and high liquid assets to support payment obligations and contingent deposil withdrawals in a stressed market environment
The Group's assets held for managing liquidity nsk comprise

(a} Cash and balances with central banks

(b} Eligible bends and other inanciai assets for collateral purposes

(¢} Interbank placings maturing within one month

The unutilsed assets, containing highly iquid and central banks eligible assets, provide a contingent liquidity reserve of €73 bn as at 31 December 2012 (2011 €4 9bn)
In additran the Group holds other types of highly hiquid assets, as defined by the regulator, amounting to € 2 2 bn {cash value} {2011 €1 9bn}
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Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Maturity analysis of liabilities

The amounts disclosed in the table below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows for tha years 2012 and 2011 Liabilites without contractual matuniies (sight and
saving deposits) are presented in the “less than 1 month" time bucket The Group has estabhshed credit nsk mitgaton contracts with its interbank counterparties
(ISDA/CSA) Due 1o these contracts the Group has already posted collateral equal with the valuation of its net habilties from interbank derivatives Feor denvative habilies
not covered by ISDA/CSA agreements tha neganve valuanon is presented at far value in the "less than 1 month™ time bucket

It should be noted that this table represents the warst case scenanp singe it 1$ based on the assumption that all habihties will be paid earlier than expected (all 1erm deposits
are withdrawn at their contractual maturity) The recent expenance shows that even in a period of a systemic financial cnsis the likeltheod of such an event 1s remote

Non-denvative liabilities

- Due to banks

- Due to customers

- EMTNs

- Secuntizations (redemptions and goupons)®

- Other habilities 119 90 528 1,008 1,742
46,557 6,109 9,698 3,872 56,236

Denvative financial instruments 132 - - - 132

Oti-balance sheet itoms

Credit related commitments
Capital expenditure
Operating lease commitments

Non-derivative habilities

- DBue to banks 24,962 4 641 575 5,989 36,167
Due to customers 18,936 5,450 6,739 2,052 32,777
- EMTNs 6 529 181 1,618 2,334
- Securtizations {redemptions and coupons)'"! 12 24 108 657 BO1
OCther labiities 137 268 487 1,001 1,873
43,653 10,912 3,070 11,317 73,952

Denvative financ:al instrumants 137 - - 137

Quttlow from secuntisations 15 fully covered by respective inflows from mortgage loans with matched matunty repayments

fi-balan heet

Credit related commitments
Capital expenditure
Operating lease commitments 32 38

1459 1,016

Due to the Greek sovereign debt cnsis, Greek banks obtained par of their funding through the European Central Bank (ECB) and the Bank of Greece (BoG) As at 31
December 2012, the Bank's net funding from these sources toialled € 29 bn (2011 € 31 bn)

The update of the Memeorandum of Economie and Financial Poliigs (MEFP), dated 21 December 2012, includes the commitment that banks, as part of ther new
restructunng plans, will set out therr intentions 1o broaden their tunding base and reduce over tme therr reliance on emergency liquidity provided by the Eurosysiem The
BoG, following the procedures and rules of the Eurasystern, will stand ready to continue disbursing adequate and appropnate emergancy liqudity support in a timely
manner if naeded

Funds from recapitalisation, gradual recovery of private sector deposis, as a result of return to a sustainable path, and restoration of market access over the next two or
three years (IMF notes that banks are expected to be able to re-access markets before the sovereign, mainly due to ther lgh capitalisation and low sovereign exposures
post recapitalisation}, enhanced by the Bank's undertaken imitiatives to stremgthen s fiquichty pasition, establish the condiions for a substantial reduction of Eurosystem
exposure in the medium term
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Financial risk management (continued)

Capital management

Capital positlon pro-forma with recapitalisation amount of €58 bn

Qrdinary and Praterred shareholders' equity 5,406
Add Regulatory non-controlling interest 210
Less Goodwil {299)
Less Other regulatory adjustments {310}
Total Tier | capital 5,007
Tiar Il capital subordinated debt 468
Less Other regulatory adjustments (258}
Tota! Regulatory Capitat 5,218
Risk Welghted Assets 43,647
Ratios [r ]
EBA Core Tier | 108 a8
Tier | 116 115
Capital Adequacy Ratio 116 120

Other than the nisks related to Greek sovereign exposure and capital erosion resulting from therr ympatrment (PS1+), the Group has sought 1o maintain an actively managed
capitat base to cover nsks inherent in the busness The adequacy of the Group's capisal 1 monitered using, among other measures, the rutes and ratios established by the
Basel Committea on Banking Supervision ("BIS rules/ratios”) and adopted by the European Union and the Bank of Greece in supervising the Bank

The Group, excluding the mpagt of PSl+, has complied with all externally imposed ¢apital requirements throughout the year

Dunng the last three years the Group focused on the organic strangthening of 1s capital positon and excluding the impact of PSl+, managed to maniam capital ratios at
levels comfortably above minimum required This was achieved by active densking of lending porifolios through tighter credit polhicies and change in the partichio mix in
favour of more secured loans In addition, it proceeded to several strategic initatives, namely the disposal of Polish and Turkish gperations (note 17), the liability
management exercise of buying back preferred secunties and Lower Tier Il unsecured subordinated notes and the merger with Dias S A

Regulatary disclosuras regarding capital adequacy and nsk management, based on Bank of Greece Act 2655/2012 (Basel II, Pillar 3), are avallable at the Bank's website

Fair values of linancial assets and liabilities

Fair value 1s the amount for which an asset or hability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transacton A market price, where an active market
{such as a recognised stock exchange) exsis, 1s the best evidence of the farr valus of a financial instrument Where markat prices are not avatlable, the far value of
financial assets and kabilities ts estimated using present value or other estimation and valuation techniques where all sigaiicant inputs are observable These inputs are
marnly related 1o interest rate curves, fx rates, equity prces, credit spreads and implied volatilities abtained from internationally recognised market data providers The
values denved using these techniques are significantly affected by underying assumphons conceming bath the amounts and trming of future cash flows and the discount
rates used In addition, the fair valuss reported, may be matenally different from the values actually realised upan sale or settlsment

The assumptions and methedalogies underlying tha calculation of fair value of financial instruments at the balance sheet date are as follows

a} Trading assets, denvatives and other transaction undertaken for trading purposes as well as treasury bills, available for sale secunties and assets and habilites
designated at far-value-through-profit-or loss are measured at fair value (notes 22, 23, 26, 33, 34 and 35) by reference to quoted market pnces when avaifable It
quoted pnces are not avallable, then the fair values are estmated using valuaton techniques

b) Investment secuntes carried at amortised cost  the far value of financial investments 15 determined using prices quoted In an active market when these are
avalable Inother cases, tarr value 1s determined using a valuation technigue (note 26}

c) Loans and advances to customers for loans and advances to customers quoted markst prices are not avalable as there are no active markets where these
instruments are traded The far value 1s determined using generally accepted valuation techniques with current market parameters The far value 1s estimated
by discounting future expected cash flows over the time penod they are expected 1o be recovered, using appropnate nsk-adjusted rates (note 24)

d) Dabt 1ssued and other borrowed funds the farr value of the debt 1ssued and other borrowed funds 18 determined using quoted market prices, If avallable If
guoted prices are nol available, the fair value i1s determined by discounting the remaining contractual cash flows at a discount rate adjusted for own credi spread,
wheare appropnate (note 34)

a) Other tinancial Instrurments, which are short term or re pnee at frequent intervals, thair carmyng value represents a reasonable sstimate of farr value

Ali inancial instruments that are measured at fair value are categonsed in one of the three fair value hierarchy levels at year end based on whether the inputs to the fair

values are observable or non observable

1) Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assels and labilites Quoted prices must be readly and regutarly avalable from an exchange or actve

index/market location and prces must represent actual and regularly eccurnng market transactons on an arm's length basis

n) Level 2 — Financial instruments measured using valuation techriques where all sigrificant inputs are market observable

) Level 3 — Financial instruments measured using valuation technigue with significant non observable inputs
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7 Financial risk management {continued)

74 Falir values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

741 Financial assets and liabilitles measured at fair value
The classification of the Group's financial assets and habdines using the fair value higrarchy 1s presented in the following table

ValuationQ

N
I SISy

Financial assets measured at fair value

Financial instruments held for trading 428 4 - 432
Financial instruments designated at far value through profit or loss 278 - - 278
Denvative financial instruments 0 1,888 - t,888
Available for sale investment securites 2,870 313 - 3,183
Total financial assets 3,576 2,205 - 5,781
Financial habiities measured at far value

Dervative financial instruments 1 2,676 - 2,677
Due to customers

- Structured deposits - 22 - 22
- Unit Iinked preducts 200 283 - 583

Debt issued and cther borrowed funds
- Structured notes

Trading llabilines

Total financial labilities

Financial assets measured at lair value

Leans and advances to banks - 212 - 212
Finaneial instruments held for trading 259 15 - 274
Financial instruments des:gnated at fair value through pralit or loss 229 - 229
Derivative financial instruments 7 1,841 - 1,818
Available-for sale investment secunhes 3,043 142 - 3,185
Total financial assets 3,538 2,180 - 5,718
Financial iabihtes measured at far value
Denvative financial instruments [} 3,007 3,013
Due to customers

Structured deposits - 67 67
- Unit inked products 236 335 571
Debt 1ssued and other barrowed funds

Structured notes - 15 - 15
Acquisition obligations . 154 - 154
Trading liabiltties 4 14 - 18
Total inancial iabilites 246 3 692 - 3,838

75 Fiduclary activities

The Group provides custody, trustes, corporate administration, Investment management and advisory services to third parties This nvolves the Group making allocation
purchase and sale decisions In relation to a wide range of financial mstruments Those assels that are held in a fiducary capacity are net included in these financial
statements
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8 Net interest income

Interest income
Customers
Banks

Trading securities
Other secunties
Dernvatives

Interest expense

Customers

Banks

Debt 1ssuad and other borrowed funds
Derivatives

Tota! from continuing operations
Total from discontinued operations

Total

) Net banking fee and commission income

Lending related fees and commissions

Mutual funds and assets under management related fees
Capital markets related fees

Other jees

Total from continuing operations

Total from discontinued oparatons
Total

10 Income from non banking services

2,644 3,004
77 99
60 42
667 766
627 1,152
4,075 5,063
(935} (1,060)
(877} (634)
(64} {106)
(738) {1,208}
(2,614) {3,098)
1,461 1,965
84 112
1,545 2,077

Income from non banking services includes rental income from investment properties and other recurnng ncome from services provided by the Group (e g payroll

services, e-commerce)

B Net trading income and gains less losses from investment securities

Debt secunties and other financial instruments
Equity secunties and mutual funds
Gains/{losses) on dervative financial instruments
Impairment allowance for investment secunties
Revaluaticn on foreign exchange positions

Total from continuing operatlons

Total from discontinued operations
Total

12 Operating expenses

Staff costs (note 13)

Admnistrative expanses

Depraciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment
Amorisation and imparrment of intangible assets

Operating lease rentals

Total from continuing operations

Total from discontinued operations
Total

Page 30

107 121
(32) )
(61) (109)
. (91)
15 3
29 (76)
[ 6
15 {70)

1,052 1,123
72 114
1,124 1,237
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13

14

15

Staft costs

Wages, salaries and performance remuneration
Social secunty costs
Addittonal pension and other post employment costs

Other

Total from continuing operatlons £82 626
Tota! fram discontinued operations 45 64
Total 628 690

The average number of employees of the Group (excluding Turkey} dunng the year was 17,662 {2011 18,643)

Other non recurring valuation losses

Impairment losses on corporate bonds

Impairment losses on avallable for sale agquities

Impairment and valuation losses on investment property and repossessed properties
Cradit valuation losses on derivative financial Instruments

Release of exchange differences to net profit

Losses from dispasal of associated underiakings

Total 331 501

As at 31 December 2012, the Group has recognized an impairment loss amounting to € 100 milion on subordinated debt 1ssued by Agncultural Bank of Greece (ABG)
whose icense was revoked in July 2012 and has since been put in hquidation

As at 31 December 2012, the Group has recognized impawment losses ameunting to € 79 million on equity secunties (including mutual funds and non listed shares), for
which the decline in far value below cost 1s considered to be significant and/or prolonged, as a result of the continuing deterioration in the equity markets As at 31
Dacember 2011, tha Group recogrised imparment losses amounting € 410 millon an equity secunties, the main part of which was listed in the Athens Stock Exchange, for
which the dacline in their fair value below cost 1s considered to be significant or prolonged

As at 31 December 2011, the release of exchange differences 1o net profit related to permanent funding to Eurobank Teklen A S, which was repad on completion of its
disposal (note 27)

Income tax

Current tax 43 6
Deferred tax [note 16) {390} (1,343}
Overseas taxes 13 18
Total tax charge/(income) from continuing operations {334} (1,319}
Total tax charge/(income) fram discontinued operations (14} 33
Total (348} (1,286}

The tax loss ansing from the pamcipation in the PSI+ program and the buyback program of nGGBs (note 5), amounting to € 3,654 million and € 1,523 million, raspectivaly
will be deducted over a penad ot 30 years, according to the current legislative framework

The nominal Greek corparate tax rate 1s 20% According to Law 4110/2013, the nominal Graek corporate tax rate increases to 26% for iIncome generated in accounting
years 2013 and onwards In addition, dividends distnbuted based on General Meetings held within 2013 are subject to 25% withholding tax, while dividends distnibuted
based on General Meetings held as of 1 January 2014 onwards are subject ta 10% withholding tax

The tax on the Group's prott before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would anse using the applicable tax rates as follows

Profit/{loss) betore tax from continuing operations {1,688) (6 975)

Tax at the applicable tax rates (328} (1,385)
Tax eftect of

- ncome and gxpenses not subject to tax 29 57
- effect of different tax rates in different countries (3) m
- change in applicable tax rate ) 4
- athar" (22) 16
Total tax charge/{income) from continuing operations (334) (1,319}
Total tax charge/{income) from discontinued operations {14) a3
Total (348) {1 286)

M Includes tax benefit of € 22 million trom change In tax base following the transition of Bancpost S A from local standards to IFRSs
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16 Deferred income taxes

Deferred income taxes are calcufated on all temporary differences under the hability methed at the rate in efiect at the time ihe reversal 1s expected to take place

The movement an the deferred income tax account 1s as follows

Balance at 1 January

Impasrment on Greek sovereign expasure
QOther income statamant credit/{charge)
Available for sale investment secuntias

- farr value measurement (note 26 3) {23) 18
- transfer 1o net profit (14) (108)
Cash flow hedges 17 (4)
Disposal of foreign operations 8 {45)
Other 12 17
Balance at 31 December 2,098 1,708
of which relating with tax losses for PS|+ and nGGBs buyback program 1,001 -

Deterred income tax asset/{liability) 1s attnbutable to the foliowing itams

Changes in fair value accounted directly to avalable for sate revaluation reserve 3 20
Changes in farr value accounted through the income statement 188 17
PSl+ related losses 1,001 1,156
Cash flow hedges 49 23
Sale of treasury and other shares 34 34
Fixed assets (21} (38)
Pensions and other pos! retirement benefits 7 11
Loan impairment 754 407
Unused tax losses 47 25
Othar 45 53
Net deferred income tax 2,098 1,708
The net deferred income tax 1s analysed as follows
i

s emullion
Deforred income tax asset 2,106
Detarred incoma tax liability (note 35) (8)
Net deferred income tax 2,098

Deferred income tax (crecit¥charge in the income statement 15 attnbutable to the tollowing tems

Changes in farr value (3] (1,248)
Fixed assets {15} 17
Pensions and other post retlirement benefis 4 B
Lozan impairment {350) (105)
Unused tax losses (22) 7
Other (1) _ (22)
Deterred income tax (creditycharge {350) (1,343)

17 Discontinued operations

Disposal of Polish operations

Based on the terms of the Investment Agreement signed with Raiffeisen Bank International AG (RBI)in February 2011, the Group recorded the disposal of its Palish
operations as of 31 March 2011 for a tetal consideration of € 718 million

On 30 Apni 2012, the Group transferred 70% of its Polish banking subsidiary {(Polbank) 1o RBI after obtaining the relevant approvals from the Polish Financial Supervision
Autharity (KNF) As of 30 Apnl 2012, Palbank and RBI Poland (RB!s Polish banking subsidiary) are cambined The Group recewved € 460 million in cash, while the
remaining consideration recervablae 15 subjact to adustmaents based on the Net Asset value of Polbank at the closing of the transaction

Moreaver, on 30 April 2012 the Group exercised its put option on its remaining 13% stake in Raifletsen Polbank In October 2012, following the completion of the relevant
transter of shares, the Group received € 126 million in cash As at 31 December 2012, the gan on the disposal of Polish operations was adjusted with € 81 million losses,
befora tax (€ 65 million, after tax)

Disposal of Turkish operations

On 21 December 2012, the Group disposed Eurcbank Tekfen A S and ils subsidianes to Burgan Bank of Kuwat, following the approvals from all competent autharities
(note 27) The Group recognized a loss of € 31 million, before tax, ansing from the recyclement of losses previously racognized in other comprehensive income (currency
translalon and avadable for sale reserve) to the income statement Turkish operalions are presented in the Intemanenal segment
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17

18

Discontinued operations (continued}

The results of the Group's Turkish operations and Polish operations are sat out below The income statement distinguishes discontinued operations from continuing
operations Comparative figures have been restated

Y\

Net interest incoma

Net banking fee and commission incorme

QOther income from discontinued operatiens

Operating expenses

Impairment losses on loans and advances

Profit/{loss) before tax from discontinued operationa

Income tax (2) (1)
Profit/(logss} before gain on disposal 10 9
Gain/(loss) on disposal before tax {(112) 183
Income tax 16 {32)
Net profit/{loss) from discontinued operationsg [L:1)) 160
Net praofit fram discontinued operations attributable to non contralling Interest +] [(4)}
Profit/{loss) for the year from discontinued operations attributable to shareholders (86) 160

Effect of disposal on the Group's balance sheet
The major classes of assets and liabhities of the disposed Turkish eperations as at 30 November 2012 are as follows

Cash and balances with central banks 155

Loans and advances 10 banks 79
Trading and invesiment securiies 194
Loans and advances o customers 1,688
Cither assets 51
Total assets disposed 2,067
Due to banks 180
Due to customers 1,354
Gther habilities 54
Total liabilities disposed 1,588
Net Group funding associated with assets disposed 87
Net assets disposed 292

Earningsa per share

Basic earnings per share 15 calculated by dviding the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted averags number of ordinary shares in 1ssue dunng the
year, excluding the average number of ordinary shares purchased by the Greup and held as treasury sharas

The diluted eamengs per share 1s calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all potentially dilutive
ordinary shares The Group has two categones of potentially dilutive ordinary shares share options and convertible, subject to certain conditions, preferred secunties In
order to adjust the weighted average number of shares for the share options a calculation 1s done to determing the number of shares that could have been acquired at far
value (determined as the average market price of the Bank's shares for the year) based on the monetary value of the subscription nights attached to outstanding share
options The number of shares calculated as above 1s added to the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue In order to determine the weighted averape
number of ordinary shares used for the calculation of the diluted earnings per share

Net profiti{loss) for the year attnbutable to ordinary sharehcldars
(after deducting dividend attributable to preferred securties holders and atter including € milfion {1,268) {5,531)
gains/(losses) on prefemed secunties)

Net profit/{ioss) for the year altnbutable from canunuing operatons
(after deducting dividend attributable to preferred secunties holders and atter including € milhon (1,182) {(5691)
gains/(losses) on preferred securities}

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue Number of shares 551,891,708 546 113,385
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share Number of sharas 551,891,708 545 113 385

Earnings/{losses) per share
- Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per shara € {230) (10 13)

Earnings/{losses) per share from continuing operations
- Basic and diluted earnings/{losses) per shara € (214) {1042)

Basic and diluted losses per share from discentinued operations for 2012 amount to € 0 16 (2011 earnings per share € 0 29)

Share options did not have an effect on the diluted earmings per share, ag therr exarcise price exceeded the average market price of the Bank s shares for the year The
Senes D and Senes E of preferred secunties (note 39), were not included i the calcufation of diluted earnings per share, as their effect would have been anti-diutive
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19 Cash and balances with central banks

Cash in hand
Balances with central banks

of which
Mandatory and collateral deposits with cantral banks 989 2,262

Mandatory deposits with central banks include (a) deposits of € 835 milion (2011 € 1,262 rmallion) with the Bank of Greece and other central banks which ropresent the
minimum level of average monthly depasits which the banks are required to maintain, the majonty can be withdrawn at any time provided the average monthly mimmum
deposits are mainfained and {b} deposus of € 34 million with the Bank of England in accordance with UK regulatory requirements

20 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents compnse the following balances with less than 90 days matunty

Cash and balances with central banks (exctuding mandatory and collateral deposits with central banks)
Loans and advances to banks
Financial instruments at far value through prafit or loss

A Loans and advances to banks
Pledged deposits with banks 3.216 4 697
Placements with banks 885 1,782
Gurrent accounts and settlement balances with banks 460 249
Revarse repos with banks 132 260
4,693 6,988
22 Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (Including trading)

Trading portfolio
Issued by public bodies

government 398 254
- other public sector 1 1
389 255
Issued by other Issuers

- banks 4 4
- othar 29 15
33 19
432 274

Other financial agsets designated at fair value through profit or logs
- unit hnked products 278 229
278 229
Total 710 503
Equity secunties 29 14
Debt securties 403 260
Other inancial assets at far value through profit or loss 278 229
Total 710 503

23 Derlvative financial instruments and hedge accounting

231 Derivative financial Instruments

The Group utihses the following denvative mstruments tor both hedging and non hedging purposes

Gurrency forwards represent commitments to purchase or sell loreign and demestic currency Foreign currency and interest rate futures are contractual obligations to
receive or pay a net amount based an changes n currency rates or intarest rates or to buy or sell foreign currency or a financial instrument on a future date at a speciied
price established in an organized financial market Since future contracts are collateralised by cash or marketable secuntiss and ¢hanges in the futures contract value are
settled daily with the exchange, the credit nsk 1s negligible

Currency and interest rate swaps are commitments lo exchange one set of cash flows for another Swaps result in an economic exchange of currencies or interest ratas
{for example, fixed rate for floating rate) or a combination of all these () @ crass currency Interest rate swaps) Except for certain currency swaps, no exchange of principal
takes place The Group's credit nsk represents the potential cost to replace the swap contracts if counterparties fail 1o perform therr obligation This rsk 1s monitored on an
angaing basls with refersnce to the current fair value, a proportion of tha notional amount of the contracts and the hquidty of the market To control the level of credit risk
undertaken, the Group assesses countarparttes using the same techruques as for its lending activities and/or marks to market with bilateral collateralisation agreements
over and above an agreed thrashold

Page 34 31 December 2012 Consohdated Financial Statements




EUROBANK ERGASIAS § A

Notes to the Consclidated Financlal Statements m

23

231

232

Derlvative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

Derivative financial ingtruments (continued)

Forengn currency and interast rate options are contractual agreements under which tha seller (wnter) grants the purchaser (holder)} the nght but not the obligation, aither to
buy {a call option) or sell (a put option}) at or by a set date or during a set perod, a speciic amount of a forexgn currency or a financial Instrument at a predetermined price
In consideration for the assumption of foretgn exchange or interest rate nsk, the seller receves a premium from the purchaser Optians may be either exchange traded or
negotated between the Group and a customer (OTC) The Group 1s exposed to credit risk on purchased options only, and only ta the extens of their carrying amount, which
15 thenr faur value

The notional amounts of cenan types of financial Instruments provide a basis for companson with instruments recognised on the balance sheet but do not necessarily
indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group's exposure to credit or prce nsks
The denvatve mstrurnants become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (labilities) as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates or foreign exchange rates relative 1o
their terms The aggregate contractual or notional amount of denvative financial Instruments on hand, the extent to which instruments are favourable or unfavourable and,
thus the aggregate tar values of denvative financial assets and labiites can fluctuate sigruficantly trom time to time  The far values of denvative instruments held are set
out in the followmng table

Derivatives held fer trading

OTC currency derivatives

- Currency forwards 832 1 8 1,264 42 26
- Currency swaps 2,147 1 6 10,330 15 69
+ OTC currancy options bought and sold 780 29 27 2,112 B85 55
51 41 122 150
OTC interest rate denvatives
- Interes! rale swaps 19,929 1,559 1,411 26,765 1,369 1189
- Cross-currency interest rate swaps 4342 130 118 4,045 104 122
- Forward rate agreements - - B 418 0
- OTC interest rate options 10,384 108 156 14,375 141 173
1,797 1,685 1,644 1,484
Exchange traded interest rate futures 5 0 1 4] 7 6
Exchange traded interest rale options - - - 95 Y 1]
1,797 1,686 1,621 1,490
Other denvatives
Othar denvative contracts (see below) 2,828 21 7 740 8 10
21 7 a 10
Total denvative assetsMlabilmes held for trading 1,869 1,734 1,751 1,650
Derlvatives designated as fair value hedges
Interest rata swaps 2,582 16 4530 4,742 33 1,180
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 24 0 16 59 0 31
16 506 33 1,211
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps 4975 o 393 7,478 20 113
Cross-cumency interest rate swaps 5,351 3 44 4,142 13 32
3 437 33 145
Derlvatives designated as net investment hedges
Currancy forwards/gurrancy swaps 11 {0) 0 494 1 7
Total denvative assets/liabiities held for hedging purposes 19 943 67 1,363
Total derivatives assets/liabllities 1,888 2,677 1818 3,013

Other denvative contracts include over the-counter equity options, exchange traded (ndex futures exchange traded index eptians bought and sold, commodity swaps and
credit default swaps

Hedge accounting

The Group uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order 1o reduce its exposure to market nisks and non denvative financal instruments to manage foreign cumency nsk
The hedging practices and accounting treatment are disclased in Note 2 (d)

{a) Fair value hedges

The Group hedges a proportion of i$ existing interest rate nsk resulting from any potential decrease in the fair value of fixed rate financial assets denorminated both in local
and fore:gn currencies using interest rate and cross currency interest rate swaps The net farr vatue of these swaps at 31 December 2012 was € 490 millon lability (2011 €
1,178 million liabiity) The Group recognized a gain of € 2 million {2011 € 4 milon loss) from changes in the fair value of the hedged items attnbutable to the hedged nsk,
net of the changes in the fair value of the hedging instruments

(b} Cash flow hedges

The Group hedges a propartion of ils existing interest rate nsk resulting from any cash flow varabihly associated with future interest rate changes on vanable rate assels or
liabiitses or unrecognised highly probable forecast transactions using interest rate swaps At 31 December 2012, interest rate swaps had a net far value of € 434 millon
liabiity {2011 € 112 milhon habihity) In 2012, the ineffectiveness recognised in income statement that arose from cash flow hedges was € nil (2011 € nil)
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Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

Hedge accounting (continued)

{c) Net investment hedges

The Group hedges part of the currency translation nsk of net investments in foreign operations through denvatwe finangial instruments and borrowings designated as
hedging instruments, the results of which have been defarred in the translation reserve component of equity

Borrowings and denvative ftnancial insiruments amounting to € 286 mithon (2011 € 785 million}, analysed in RON 1 4 bn (2011 RON 1 3 bn and TRY 995 millkon) gave
nse to currency gains for the year of € 8 millon (2011 € 13 million gains), which affected positively the currency transtabion reserve

Loans and advances to customers

Wholesale fending 19,742 22,485

Morigage lending 14,221 14 029
Consumer lending 6,378 7.048
Small business fending 7,500 7,929
Gross lcans and advances to customers 47,84 51,491
Less Prowvisign for impairment losses (note 25} (4,670) (3,397)
43,171 48,094
Loans and advances to customers matunng after 1 year 31,493 32,594

As a1 31 December 2012, the fair value of "loans and advances to customers” was € 43,700 million

Loans and advances to customers includa finance lease recewvables as detailed below

BRI

B

Gross investment in finance leases recavable

Not later than 1 year 326 397
Later than 1 year and not tater than 5 years 836 1024
Later than 5 years 900 1,136
2,062 2557
Unearned fulure finance (ncome on finance leases (334) (499)
Net investment in finance laases 1,728 2058
Less prowision for impatrment losses (159} (116)
1,569 1,942
The net investment in finance leases 1s analysed as follows
Not later than 1 ysar 261 325
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 705 B29
Later than 5 ysars 742 904
1,728 2,058
Less prowision far impairment losses (159} (118}
1,569 1,942

Provision for impairment losses on loans and advances to customers

¥
mall

Balance at 1 January 803 268 1,356 870 3,397

Impairment losses on loans and advances charged in the yaar 430 192 584 449 1,655
Amounts recovered during the year & o 17 2 25
Loans written off dunng the year as uncollectible {72} {6) {9) (23) (110}
Foreign exchange diferences and other movements {52} (29) {102) (78} (261)
Dispasal of foreign operations {33} - {0) (3) {36)
Balance at 31 December 1,182 425 1,846 1,217 4,670

Balance at 1 January 560 161 98B 620 2,329

Impairment losses on loans and advances charged in the year from

cantinuing operations 229 13 636 332 1,328
Imparrment losses on loans and advances charged n tha year from

discortinued operations 4 - 0 1 5
Additional collective provision for Greek sovereign rigk 157 - 1 158
Amounts recovered dunng the year 33 Q 27 4 64
Loans written off dunng the year as uncollectible {44) (8) (125} 25) (200}
Foreign exchange differences and other movements {35} (14) {109) {43} (201)
Disposal of foreign operations {1) (4) {61} (20) (86)
Balance at 31 Dacember 903 268 1.356 870 3,397
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26 Investment securities

Available-for-sale Investment secunties
Dabt securties lending portfolio
Held-to matunty investment secunties

Debt securties maturing after 1 year

3,183 3,185
4,897 5,992
1,389 2,206
9,469 11,383
5,474 7,222

As at 31 December 2012, the farr value of "Debt secunties lending portfolo™ and “Held to matunty investment secunties” was € 4,193 mithort and € 1,225 miflion,

raspectively (2011 € 5,593 million and € 1,839 million, respectively}

In 2008 and 2010, in accordance with the amendments (o IAS 39 the Group reclassdied eligible debt secuntes irom the “Avallable-for sale” portfolo to “Debt secunties
lending™ portfolio carned at amortised cost Interest on the reclassified secunties continued to be recognised in interest income using the effective interest rate method As
at 31 December 2012, the carrying amount of the reclassiied secunties was € 1,375 milion If the financial assets had not been reclassified, changes in the fau value for
the penod from the reclassification date until 31 December 2012 would have resulted in € 411 nullion losses nat of tax, which would have been recognised in the avallable-

for sale revaluation reserve

Reclassified Greek Government bonds of € 1 4 bn as at 31 December 2011, exchanged with new bonds under the PSI plan in 2012, wera derecognised {note 5)

Under its participation to the Greek state s debt buyback program, the Group submitted lor exchange the 100% of its nGGBs portfolio of total face value € 2 3 bn {carrying

amount € 0 & bn) and received EFSF notes of total face value € 0 8 bn (note 5)

261  Classification of investment securities by type

lssued by public bodies
- government
« other public sector

Issued by other 1ssuers

- banks
- other

Taotal

Listed
Unlisted

Equity
Debt

Issued by public bodies
- government
- other public sector

Issued by ather 1ssuers

- banks
- other

Total

Listed
Unlisted

Equity
Debt

Paga 37

81 18 32 511
585 163 604 1,352
666 281 916 1,863
3,183 4,897 1,389 9,469
2,593 4,778 1,240 8,611

590 119 149 858
3,183 4,897 1,389 9,469

309 - - 309
2,874 4,857 1,389 9,160
3,183 4,857 1,389 9,469

2,639 5,657 1074 9,370
69 - 69
2,708 5657 1,074 9,439
68 148 431 647
409 187 701 1,297
477 335 1132 1,944
3,185 5,902 2,206 11,383
2,639 5,570 2,084 10,493
346 422 122 890
3,185 5,992 2,206 11,383
335 - - 325
2,860 5 99! 2,208 11,058
3,185 5992 2.206 11,383
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Investment securities (continued)

Movement of invesiment securities

Balance at 1 January

Additions, net of disposals and redemptions

Net gains/(losses) from changes in fair value for the year
Amaortisation of premiums/discounts and interest
Amortisation of mark-te-market of reclassified securities
Changes in farr value due to hedging

Impatrment losses

Exchange adjustments

Disposal of foreign operations

Balance at 31 December

Balance at 1 January

Additiens, net of disposals and redemptions

Net gains/{losses) from changes in fair value for the year
Reclassification from trading portfolio {absorption of Dias S A )
Reclassification from loans and advances to customers
Amorusation of premums/discounts and interest
Amortisation of mark to market of reclassified securties
Changes in farr value due to hedging

Impairment josses

Exchange adjustments

Disposal of foreign operations

Balance at 31 December

Equity reserve revaluation ot the avallable-fer-sale investments

- (33) . (33)
(68) (20) {528) (616)
(6} 9) (12) 2n
(351} - {69) (420}
3,183 4,897 1,389 9,469

- 31.0ecember 201 o E &
Lot f€ E

3,369 9,765 3.429 16,563
85 375 (562) {102)
(206) - - {206)

50 - 50

- 239 - 230

108 118 (20) 206

59 13 72

- 384 - 384

{92) (4,954) {601) (5.647)
{10y 6 (53) (57)
{119} . - {119)
3,185 5990 2,20 11,383

Gains and losses ansing from the changes in the far value of available for sale iInvestments are recogrused in a revaluaton reserve for avalable for sale financial assets in

equity The movement of the reserve I1s as follows

Balance at 1 January

Net gains/{losses) from changes in far valua
Deferred income taxes
Non controlling interest’s share of changes in fair value

Net {gains)losses transferred 10 net profit on disposal

Impairment losses on Greek sovereign debt fransfer to net profit, nat of tax
Impairment losses on other investment secunties transfer to net profit, net of tax
Deferred income taxes

Net {gans)/lasses transterred to net profit from fair value hedges/amortisation
of mark-to market
Deferred income taxes

Balance at 31 December

Page 38

15 67
{2) (7}
13 60
9 (194)
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27 Shares in subsidiary undertakings

The following is a hsting of the Bank's substdianes at 31 December 2012

Be-Business Exchanges S A

Best Direct S A 100 00 Greece Sundry services

Enalios Real Estate Developments S A @ 106 00 Greoce Real estate

ERB Insurance Services 5 A 100 00 Greece Insurance brokerage
Eurobank Asset Management Mutual Fund Mngt Company S A 10000 Greece Mutuat fund and assst management
Eurcbank Business Sarvices S A 10000 Greece Payroll and advisory services
Eurgbank Equiies S A 10000 Greece Capitai markels and advisory services
Eurobark Ergasias Leasing S A 100 00 Graece Leasing

Eurobank Factors S A 10000 Greeco Factonng

Eurobank Financial Planming Services S A a 100 00 Greeco Management of overdue loans
Eurobank Household Lending Services S A a 10000 Greece Promohorvmanagement of household products
Eurobank Propertes REIC 6594 Greece Real estate

Eurobank Properly Services § A 100 00 Greece Real eslate services
Eurobank Remedial Services S A a 10000 Greecs Neotfaton to overdue debtors
Euralife ERB General Insurance S A 100 00 Greece Insurance services

Eurolite ERB Life Insurance S A 100 00 Greece Insyrance services

Global Fund Management S A " 99 50 Greece Investment adwisors
Eurobarnk Bulgana A D 99 9% Bukjana Banking

Bulganan Retal Services A D 100 00 Bulgana Credit card management

EFG Auto Leasmg EQOD 100 00 Bulgana Vehicle leasing and rental
ERB Property Services Sofia A D 8000 Bulgana Aeal estate services

ERB LeasingEAD 100 00 Bulgana Leasing

IMOQ3EAD 100 00 Bulgana Aeal estate services

IMO Central Office EA D 100 0C Bulgana Real eslate services

MO Property Investmants Solia E A D 100 00 Bufgana Real estate services
IMORIaEAD 100 00 Bulgana Real estate services

ERB Hellas (Cayman Eslands) Ltd 100 00 Caymanislands  Special purpese knancing vehicle
Berberis Investments Ltd 100 00 Channel Istands  Holding company

ERB Hellas Funding Lid 100 00 Channel istands  Special purpose financing vehucle
Eurobank Cyprus Ltd 100 00 Cyprus Banking

CEH Balkan Holdings Ltd 100 00 Cyprus Holding ecompany

Chamia Enterpnses Company Ltd 100 6O Cyprus Special purpose investment vehiclo
EFG New Europe Funding 111 Lid 100 60 Cyprus Finance company

NEU Il Property Holdings Ltd 100 00 Cyprus Helding company

NEU Il Property Holdings Ltd 100 00 Cyprus Holding company

NEU Property Holdings Lid 100 00 Cyprus Holding company

Ewobank Private Bank Luxembourg S A 100 00 Luxembourg Banking

Eurobank Fund Management Company (Luxembourg) S A 100 GO Luxembourg Fund management

Eurobank EFG Hokiing [Luxambourg) S A 100 00 Luxembourg Holding company

ERB New Europs Funding B V 100 060 Netherlands Finance company

ERB New Europe Funding 1B ¥V 100 00 Netherlands Finance company

ERB Naw Europe Holding B V 100 00 Netherlancs Holding company

Bancpost § A 9911 Romama Banng

Ehade Tower S A 55 94 Romania Real estate

ERB IT Shared Services S A 100 00 Romama informatics data processing
ERB Leasing IFN S A 100 00 Romama Leasing

ERB Retad Services IFNS A 100 00 Romarua Credt card management
Eurcbank Finance S A 100 00 Romarva Invesiment bankung

Eurcbank Property Services S A 8000 Remama Real estate services
Eurobank Secunties S A 100 00 Romarna Capital markets services
Eurolife ERB Asiguran de Viata S A 100 00 Romania Insurenca services

Eurolife ERB Astguran Generale S A 100 00 Romana Insurance services

IMO Property Investments Bucuresti S A 100 0D Romania Rezl estate services

IMO-1I Property Investments S A 100 00 Romanma Real esiate services

Aetail Development S A 5594 Romania Real estate

Seferco Development S A 5594 Romania Real estate

Eurobank A D Beograd 9998 Serbia Banking

EFG Business Services d o ¢ Beoprad 100 00 Serbia Payroll and advisory services
ERB Asset Find o0 Beograd 100 0C Serta Assel management

ERB Leasing AD Beograd 9999 Serbia Leasing

ERB Property Services d o o Beograd 8000 Serbia Real estate services

IMO Property Investments A D Beograd 100 00 Serbia Real estate services

Reco Real Property A D 5594 Sesbia Real estats

EFG Istanbul Holding A S 100 00 Turkey Halding company

Public J §C Universal Bank b 99 97 Ukraine Banking

ERB Property Services Ukraine LLC 100 00 Ukraing Real astate services
Eurobank EFG Ukraine Distnbution LLC 100 00 Ukrang Sundry services
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Shares in subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Anaplyx 2006-1 Ple
Anaptyx APC Lid
Anaptyx Holdings Lid @

N
Urited Kingdom

United Kingdam
United Kingdom

W Ling of bUSIness

Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Speciat purpose linancing vehicle (SIC 12)
Special purpose hnancing vehicle (Si1C 12}

Anaptyx [l Holdings Lid ¥ United Kingdom  Special purpose linancing vehicle (SIC 12)
Anaptyx 1l Pl United Kingdom  Specw! purpose financing vehigle {SIC 12)
Anaptyx Options Ltd United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehcle {SIC 12)
Anaptyx SME | Holdings Lid Uniled Kingdom  Special purpose financing vetucle {SIC 12)
Anaptyx SME | Ple Urited Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Ancromeda Leasing | Hoidings Ltd ¥ United Kingdom  Specia! purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Andromeda Leasing | Plc United Kingdom  Special purpose hinancing vehicle (SIC 12)
Daneion 2007 1 Plc United Kingdom  Specsal purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Daneion APC Ltd Urited Kingdom  Spaciel purpose financing vehicla (SIC 12)
Dangon Haldings Ltd @ United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
ERB Hellas Pic 100 00 United Kingdom  Spec purpose hnancing vehicle

Karta |1 Holdings Lid ¥ Unitect Kingdom  Special purpose linancing vehicle (SIC 12)
Karta |l Ple United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Themeleson |l Mortgage Finance Ple United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Themelewan |1l Holdings Ltd * United Kingdom  Spacial purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12}
Themelewon |1l Mortgage Finance Ple United Kingdom  Special purpase financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Thamelewn IV Holdings Lid United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Themelsion |V Mortgage Finance Ple United Kingdom  Spegial purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12}
Thamelean Morigage Finance Pl United Kingdem  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)

! dormant/under hquidation entibes not consofidated as of 31 December 2011 dus to immateriaily
2 In July 2012, the Bank obtained full ownership of Enalios Real Estate Developmants S A a dormant entity not consolitated due o immaterialiy
' not consolidated due to immatenahty

Eurobank Financial Planning Services 5 A (previously Open 24 S A ), Eurobank Household Lending Services S A {previously Eurobank Cards S A) and
Eurobank Remedlal Services S A (previously Eurobank Financial Planning Services S A ), Greece

In Nevember 2012, “Eurobank Cards S A " changed 11s name into "Eurobanrk Househeld Lending Services S A* and 1t operates in promotion and management of
loanfinsurance products to households "Eurobank Financial Planning Services S A" was renamed to "Eurobank ftemedial Services S A" and operates in

In December 2012, the name and the activity of “Open 24 § A ™ were changed The new nama of the entity 1s “Eurobank Financial Planning Services § A ™ and 1t

in May 2012, the Group increased its participation in Public J S © Univarsal Bark from 99 96% to 99 97%

On 21 December 2012, the Group disposed Eurobank Tekfen AS and its subsidiares to Burgan Bank of Kuwad, following the approvals from all compatent
authonties Under the terms of the transactien, which was announced on 9 Apnl 2012, Burgan Bank has acquired 99 3% of Eurobank Tekfen, from Eurabank and
the Tekten Group, for a consideration of approximately TRY 700 mullion (1x Book Value) The transaction increased Eurobank's Core Tier | capital ratio by 80 bps (or
capital equivalent of almast € 200 milhon} and improved its hquidity position by more than € 400 million

Anaptyxi SME Il 2008-1 Ple, Anaptyxi SME |l APC Ltd, Anaptyxi SME Il Holdings Ltd, Xarta 2005-1 Plc, Karta APC Lid, Karta Holdings Ltd, Karta LNI 1 Ltd

(a)
natfication to overdue debtors
operates In the management ol overdue consumar and mortgage loans
(b) Public J S C Universal Bank, Ukraine
(¢) Eurobank Tekfen A S, Turkey
(d)  EFG Hellas Il {Cayman Islands) Ltd, Cayman lslands
In March 2012, the company was liguidated
(e)
and Karta Options Ltd, United Kingdom
In October 2012, the companies were gquidated
Post Balance sheet gvent
(i

Anaptyxi 2006-1 Plc, Anaptyxi APC Ltd, Anaptyxi Holdings Ltd and Anaptyxi Options Ltd, United Kingdom
In January 2013, the companies were liquidated
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Property, plant and equipment

Cost

Balance at 1 January
Transfers

Additions

Disposals and wnte-offs
Impairments

Exchange adustiments
Disposal of foreign operations
Balance at 31 December

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January
Transtars

Disposals and wnte-offs
Chargs for the year
Exchange adjusiments
Disposal of foreign operations.
Balance at 31 December

Net book value at 31 December

Cost

Balance at 1 January
Transiers

Additions

Disposals and wnte-offs
Exchange adjustiments
Disposal of foreign operations
Balance at 31 December

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January
Transfers

Disposals and wnte offs
Charge for the year
Exchange adjustments
Disposal of foreign operations
Balance at 31 Dacember

Net book value at 31 December

&ﬁ; *3

Cel

1 December 2012 .. . . de, ¥notr & o~ 0L L
J e

AT oesy )

sets
millign
779 264 450 601 2,094
23 {0) @ {23 -
12 4 12 117 145
(20} 141 {7 {1 (35)
R - - (33) (33)
{6} 3) 1) (3} (13)
{17) {8) {7 - (29)
77 753 447 658 2,129
{189} {193} (375) (33) {790)
0 0 0 (0} -
14 6 7 {0) 27
(2%) (18} {(22) (9) (74)
1 2 1 0 4
4 2 4 - 10
{195) {201) (385) 43) {823)
576 52 62 616 1,306

828 297 485 434 2044
(3) 3 (4} 3 ()

27 8 19 165 21g
(29} (17) (33) (79)
(4) {2} (2} m @
(40) (25) (15) . (50)

779 264 450 801 2,094
{194} (194) (393) (26) (807)
0 {3) 2 (© m

20 15 28 (0} 63
(27) {21) (23} ) (78)

2 1 1 0 4

10 9 10 29
{189} (193) {375) (33) (790)

590 71 75 568 1,304

Leasehold improvements relate to pramises occupied by the Group for its own actvities

Included in the above as at 31 December 2012 is € 0 01 million (2011 € 3 million} relating to assets under construction
The net book value of finance leases included n property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2012 was € 14 million {2011 € 16 milhon)

Investment property

Investment property Is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumutated imparrment losses Depreciation is calculated using the straight ine method over a
period of 40-50 years The far value of investment property as at 31 December 2012 was € 635 million (2011 € 607 milion) The farr values are open market values

provided by protessicnally qualfied valuers

During the year ended 31 December 2012 an amount of € 22 million (2011 € 26 mdiion) was recegnised as rental iIncome from nvestment property in income from nen
banking services As at 31 December 2012 and 2011, there were no capital commitments in relation to Investment property
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29 Intangible assets
Cost
Balance at 1 January 536 300 836 534 324 858
Transfers - o 0 - 0 0
Additiens - 25 25 - 33 33
Disposals and wnte-offs - (2) (2} - (20) {20)
Exchange adjustments - (3) {3) - (3} {3)
Adjustment to goodwill (see below) - - - 2 - 2
Disposal of foreign operations - {12) {12} - {34} (34)
Balance at 31 December 536 308 844 536 300 336
Accumulated impairment/amortisation
Batance at 1 January {237) (134) (371) (1) {123) (124)
Transfers - "} o - (L)) (1)
Amortisation charge for the year - (30) (30) - (30) (30)
Disposals and wnte-ofis - 1 1 - 6 6
Impaiernent (see below) (42) - (42) {2386} - (236)
Exchange adjustments . 1 1 - 1 1
Disposal of oreign operations - 3 3 - 13 13
Balance at 31 December {279) (159) (438) (237) 1134) (371)
Net book value at 31 December 257 149 406 299 166 465

Included in the above as at 31 December 201215 € 0 2 million (2011 € nil) relating to assets under construction

Goodwill for 2011 was adjusted for cantingent purchase consideration and fawr value adjustments in accordance with the provisions of the acquisition agreements for
Eurobank Tekien AS (€ 23 millon increase) As at 31 December 2011, the Group proceaded with tha wnte down of goodwill relating to its operations in Turkey (see
below)

Impairment testing of goodwilt

Goodwill acquired in a buginess combination 15 allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating units (CGUs} that are expected to benefit Irom that business combinatian
and form part of the Group's pnmary business sagments The carrying amount of gaodwill 15 allocated as follows

Global and Capital Markets 2 2
Waealth Management 22 64
international 233 233
Total goodwill 257 299

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value-in-use calculations The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations are those regarding the
discount rates, growth rates and cash flow projections based on financial budgets appraved by Managemant covanng a 5 year period Cash flaw prejections for years six to
ten have been projected based on eperation and market specific assumptions Cash flows beyond the ten year period {the pencd in perpatuity} have been extrapolated
using the estimated growth rates stated below Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the tims value of
money and the nsks specific to the CGUs The growth rates are based on respective market growth forecasts

{1} Wealth Management and Global and Capital Markets gegments
The pre tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections i1s 21% (2011 15%) Tha growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the initial ten year penod 1s up to 3%
and does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets

A goodwill impairment charge amounting to € 42 millon was recognised as at 31 December 2012 agawnst the camying amount of Eurobank Asset Management Mutual
Fund Mngt Company S A which includes goodwill arising from acquisiion of Intertrust Mutual Funds Co S A in 2004 Accordingly, as a result of reassessing the
projections used 1o determine the recoverabie amount under the currert sconomi¢ environment goodwill was reduced to nil

No other impairment losses of the CGUs of the Wealth Management and Global and Capital Markets segments to which goodwill has been allocated arose No reasonably
possible change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the carrying amount of these units 1o exceed their recoverable amount

) Internal | m

The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash {low projections for International entiies ts 12% for Bulgana {2011 11%), 13% for Romania (2011 13%) and 13% for Serbia
(2011 13%}) The growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows bayend the imibal ten year period 1s 4% (2011 3%) and does not exceed the average long term growth rate for
the ralevant markets

Dunng the year endad 31 December 2012, no impairment losses of the CGUs of the Intemational segment to which goodwill has been allocated arose Dunng 2011, the
Group recogrised a goadwili impairment loss amounting to € 236 million mainty relating with 1ts Turkish and Ukrainian subsidiaries

For Romania, with € 10 milllon goadwill, the recovarable amount was 116% of the carrying amount A reduction in cash flow projections by 13 7%, a switch from growth
rate of 4% to contraction rate of 0 4% or a nse 10 pre tax discount rate to 15% could cause the recoverable amount to equal the carrying amount

For Serbra, with € 35 million goodwill, the recoverable amount was 128% of the carrying amount A reduction n cash flow projections by 21 8%, a switch from growth rate
of 4% to contraction rate of 16% or a nse in pre tax discount rate to 16% could cause the recoverable amount ta equal the carrying amount

For Bulgana with € 188 milhon goodwill, the recoverable amount was 111% of the carrying amount A reduction In cash flow projections by 9 8%, a fall in growth rate to
1 8% or a rise 1n pre lax discount rate 1o 13% could cause the recoverable amount to equal the carrying amount

The total goodwill impairmant loss has been recognised as a separate hne item in the Consolidated Incame Statement
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30 Other assets

Prepaid expenses for Bank's recapitaiisation
Repossessed properties

Recavable from Deposit Guaraniee and Investment Fund
[ncome tax receivable

Prepaid expenses and accrued income

Settlement balances with customers

Investments in joint ventures (see below)

Other assets''!

" includes a pledged amount of € 246 million relating with a Graek sovereign nsk financial guarantee

The mavement n investments in joint ventures 1s as follows

422

1,839

1255

Balance at 1 January 14
Additions/(disposals) (5)
Share caputal increase

Share of results far the year {1)
Balance at 31 December 8

The financial information of the Group's joint ventures as at 31 December 2012 1s presented below

EE vy -
in 3 £
Name

T

Incorporatign

Rosequeens Properties Romania Real estate 3333 63 62 ] 0
SAL company
Cardlink S A Greeca POS 50 00 a ] 0 (0)
edminustration
Tetin S A Greeca Motor vehicle 50 00 6 1 3 0
sales linancing
Sinda Enterpnses Cyprus Spectal purposa 48 00 L] 0 2 (2]
Company Lid nvestment
vehicle
Fermign Ltd Cyprus Special purpose 66 45 4 3 1 0
nvestment
vehiclg
Unitfinance S A Greece Financing 4000 [} 0 2 (0)
company
Rosequeens Properties Cyprus Special purpose 3333 0 0 [1] (0)
Lid invastment
vehicle
90 74 8 (0)

As at 31 December 2012 all of the Group's foint ventures are unhsted

{a) Rosequeens Properties Lid, Cyprus and Rosequeens Properties SRL, Romania
In August 2012, the Group acquired 33 33% of Rosequeens Properties Ltd, a special purpose investment vehicle incorporated in Cyprus, which controls 100% of
Resequeens Properties SRL., a real estate company incorparated in Romanmia

(b} Femion Ltd, Cyprus
In December 2012, the Group decreased its participation in Fernion Ltd from 66 67% to 66 45%

3 Due to central banks

Secured borrowing from ECB and BoG
Secured borrowing from other central banks

Other borrowing tfrom central banks

32 Due to other banks

Securad borrowing from other banks

Secured barrowing from mternational inancial institutions
Gther borrowing from international financial nstitutions
Interbank takings

Currant accounts and seftlement batances wath banks
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34

Due to customers

Term deposits 20,947 21,603
Savings and current accounts 8,490 9,474
Repurchase agreements 378 276
Unit inked products 583 571
Other tarm products 354 535

30,752 32,459

The carrying amount of structured deposits and liabilites of unit-linked products classitied as at far value through profit or loss at 31 December 2012 was € 605 million
(2011 €638 milion) The fair value change as at 31 December 2012 was € 138 milkon loss (2011 € 25 mill:on loss), which is attnbutable to changes in market conditions

The changes in the fair value of structured deposits and habilities of unit inked products are offset in the income statement against changes in the fair value of structured
dervatives and assets classified as at fair value thraugh profit or loss, respactively

The difference between the carrying amount and the contraciual undiscounted amount that wili be required to be paid at the matunty of the struciured deposits was € 10
milhon (2011 € 17 mudhon)

Debt issued and other borrowed funds

"y w: Faty 2012

5% € milllon

Medium-term notes {EMTN} Tre
Subordinated 217
Secuntised 376
1,365

There Is an unrecognised valuation gain of € 306 milkon (2011 € 446 million) related to long term debt of € 1,337 million (2011 € 2,656 million) camed at amorused cost,
whereas its fair vatus was € 1,031 milkion {2011 € 2,210 million) The remaining long term debt consists of structured notes classified as at farr value through profit-or loss,
the carrying amount of which amounted to € 29 millian as at 31 December 2012 {2011 € 15 million) The far value change as at 31 December 2012 amounted to € 19
mition gain {2011 € 40 milion gain) The far value of the structured notes takes into account the credit nsk of the Group The cumulative change in far value of these
nstruments attnbutable to changes in credit sk, as at 31 December 2012 was a gain of € 23 milion (2011 € 36 milion) The changes in the farr value of the structured
notes due to market nsks other than the Group's credit nsk are offset in the iIncome statement agamst changes in the far value of structured denvatives

The difterence between the carmung amount and the contractual undiscounted amount that will be required to be paid at the matunty of the structured notes was € 24
milhion (2011 € 39 million)

The Group's funding consists of the secuntisations of vanous classes of loans, notes under Eura Medium Term Note (EMTN) program, covered bonds and government
guaranteed bonds

Medium-term notes {(EMTN)

During the year, notes amounting to € 544 millian, 1ssued undar tha EMTN Program through the Group's special purpose entities, matured

During the year, the Group proceeded with the repurchase of € 323 million of notes 1ssued under the EMTN Program through the Group s special purpose entities
The EMTNs held by Group's customers which, as at 31 Decamber 2012 amounted to € 281 million {2011 € 367 midlion) were included in “Due to customers”

Lower Tier-ll

in June 2007, the Group 1ssued unsecured subordinated floating rate noles, through its subsidiary ERB Hellas Ple The notes have a ten year maturity with a calt provision
after five years The notes pay floating rate interest quanterly based on a coupon of three month Eunbor plus 160 basis paints The natas qually as Lower Tier || capital for
the Group and are isted an the Luxembourg Stock Exchange As at 31 December 2012 the liability amounted to € 217 million {2011 € 300 million)

The notes held by Group's customers, which as at 31 December 2012 amounted to € 73 million (2011 € 168 mitlon) were included in "Dua to customers”

In February 2012, the Group inwited the holders of Lawer Twr || unsecured subordinated notes to tender existing bonds The Group repurchased notes of € 106 million
(principal ameunt), generating a gain for the Group and increasing Core Tier | capital by € 53 milian Moreover, during the year the Group proceeded with the repurchase of
an additional amount of Lower Tier Il unsacured subordinated notes of € 71 million

Asset Backed Securitles

In June 2004, the Group proceedad with the i1ssuance of residential morigage backed securties at an average funding cost of threa month Eunbor plus 47 basis points As
of Dacember 2011, the Issuer has the option to call the 1ssue at par at each interest payment date (clean-up call option) As at 31 December 2012, the lliability amounted to
€ 22 milhion {2011 € 39 million}

In June 2005, the Group praoceeded with the 1ssuance of residential mortgage backed sacurities at an average funding cost of three month Euribor plus 44 bagis points As
of July 2012, the Issuar has the option to call the 1ssue at par at each interest payment date (step up call option) As at 31 Dacember 2012, the hability amounted to € 51
million (2011 € 88 miltion)

In June 2008, the Group proceeded with the 1ssuance of residential mortgage backed secunties at an average funding cost of three month Eunbor plus 21 basis points The
secuntes’ imtally expacted average life was seven years As at 31 December 2012, the iability amounted to € 84 million (2011 € 162 milhon)

In June 2007, the Group proceeded with the 1ssuance of residential morigage backed securities at an average funding cost of three month Eunbor plus 37 basis points As
of August 2012, the Issuer has the option to call the 1ssue at par at each interest payment date (step up calf option) As at 31 December 2012, the hability amounted to €
219 million (2011 € 476 million)

Dunng the year the Group proceeded with the repurchase of € 254 million of residential mortgage backed secunties 1ssued through the Group's special purpose entities
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34 Debt issued and other borrowed funds (continued)

Covered bonds and Government guaranteed bonds

As at 31 Decamber 2012, the covered bands and government guaranteed bonds under the second stream of the Greek Economy Liquicity Support Program {note 4),
totaling to € 3,800 midlion and € 16 276 million respectively, were fully retained by the Bank and its subsidianes In May 2012, covered bonds amounting to € 850 million,
matred In Novemnber 2012, government guaranteed bonds amounting to € 1,500 million, matured

P Baiance t even
In February 2013, government guaranteed bonds amounting ta € 2 344 million, matured

Financial disclagures required by the Act 2620/28 08 2009 of the Bank of Greece in relation to the covered bonds 1ssued, are available at the Bank's website

35 Other liablilities

Insurance Liabihties

Prowvision for sovereign nsk financial guarantee

Deterred income and accrued expenses

Standard legal staff retirament indemnity obligations {note 36)
Settlement balances with customers

Daferred tax hability (note 16)

Trad:ing habilities

Acquisition obligations

Other habilites

36 Standard legal staff retirement indemnity obligations

Movamment in the liability for standard legal staff retirement indemnity chligations

Balance at 1 January
Cost for the year (see below)

Benelits pad {22) (28)
Exchange adjustments (Y] )
Disposal of foreign operations (2) Q)
Balance at 31 December 33 56

Expense recognised in profit or loss

Current serice cost

Interast cost

Terrunat:on losses/{gans)

Past service cost

Actuanal lossas/(gaing)

Total included in staff costs (nate 13)

Actuarizl assumptions
Principal actuanal assumptions {expressed as weighted averages)

Discount rate
Future salary increases

37 Ordinary share capltal, share premium and treasury shares

The par value of the Bank s shares 1s € 2 22 per share {2011 € 2 22) All shares are fully paxd The movement of ardinary share capital, share premium and weasury
shares 15 as follows

Balance at 1 January 2011 1,481 )] 1,478 1,450 (10) 1440

Share capital increase due to merger with Dias S A 73 73 {(2) - 2)
Share capital decrease by reducing the ordinary sharas’

par valua (326) (326) - -

Purchase of treasury shares - (4) (4) - 1 1

Sale of treasury shares - 5 5 0 Q
Balance at 31 December 2011 1228 (2) 1226 1,448 9 1439

Balance at 1 January 2012 1,228 (2} 1,226 1,448 (9) 1,439
Purchase of treasury shares - {6) {6) - 3 3
Sale of treasury shares - 2 2 - 9 L}
Balance at 31 December 2012 1,228 {B) 1,222 1,448 3 1,451
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Ordinary share capital, share premium and treasury shares (continued)

Tha following 1s an analysis of the mevement in the number of shares ssued by ths Bank

R rcasuryl

Balance at 1 January 2011 538,594,955 {1,020 569) 537,574,388
Share capital increase due 10 marger with Dias S A 14,353,472 - 14,353 472
Purchase of treasury shares - (1,563,656} (1,563,656)
Sale of treasury shares - 1775215 1,775,215
Balance at 31 December 2011 552,948,427 {809,010} 552,139,417
Balance at 1 January 2012 552,948,427 (809,010) 552,139,417
Purchase of treasury shares - {2,716,066) {2,716,066)
Sale of treasury shares . 937,204 937,204
Balance at 31 December 2012 552,948,427 (2,587,872) 550,360,555

In May 2011, following the registration of the marger between the Bank and Dias S A by the Ministry for Development, Competiiveness, Infrastructure, Transpert and
Networks in the Companies Registry, the Bank proceeded with the issuance of 14 353,472 ordinary shares and the simultaneous modification of the ordinary shares'
nominal value from € 2 75to € 2 81

in September 2011, following the decision of the Repeat Annual General Maeting in July 2011 and the relevant approval by the Ministry far Development, Competitiveness,
Infrastructure, Transport and Networks, the Bank decreased its share capital by the amount of € 326 million by reducing the ordinary shares' par value from € 281 t0 €
2 22, wn order to offset transfermation lesses frem previous years' mergers and losses carred forward

In June 2009, the Annual Genera) Meeting approved the 1ssue, within certain parameters, tha terms and timing of which are at the Board of Directers discreton, either in
total or gradually in tranches, of a callable bond of up to € 500 million, convertible to ordinary shares of the Bank (note 38, Series D and E) In July 2011 the repeat Annual
General Meeting decided the amendment of the terms of the callable bonds approved by the Annual General Meeting in June 2009 for the amount of € 150 million not yet
1ssued/aliotted and the increase of the bands total amount by up to € 100 milhon under certain conditions

Treasury shares

Under Law 3756/2000 banks participating in the Govemment's Greek Econamy Liquidity Support Program are not allowed to acquire treasury shares under article 16 ot
the Company Law

In the ordinary course of business, subsidianes of the Group may acquire and dispase of treasury shares

Preference shares

345,500,000
Balance at 31 December 345,500,000 850

Onm 12 January 2009 the Extraordinary General Maeting of the Bank approved the issue of 345,500,000 non voting, non-listed, non-transferable, tax deductble, non
cumulative 10% preference shares, with nominal valug € 2 75 each, under Law 3723/2008 “Greek Economy Liquidity Suppart Program’, to be fully subsenbed to and paid
by the Greek State with bonds of equivalent value The proceeds of the issue total € 940 million, net of expenses, and the transaction was completed on 21 May 2009 In
accordance with the current legal and regulatory iramework, the 1ssued shares have been classified as Tier | capital

The preference shares pay a non cumulative coupon of 10%, subject to meeting mimmum capital adequacy requirements, set by Bank of Greece, avalabity of
distributable reserves in accordance with article 44a of Company Law 2190/1920 and the approval of the Annual Genesal Mesting According to Law 3723/2008, as in
force, five years after the issue of the preference shares or earlier subject 1o the approval of the Bank of Greece, the Bank may redeem the preference shares at their
nominal value In case of non redemption at the expiratian of the five year penad, the coupon I1s increased by 2% each year

Based on the 2012 results and article 44a of Company Law 2190/1920, the Directors do no recommend the disinbuton of dwvidends 10 erther ardinary or preference
shareholders

Preferred securities

On 18 March 2005, the Group, through its Special Purpese Entity, ERB Hellas Funding Limited, 1ssued € 200 millon preferred secunties which represent Lower Tier |
capital for the Group (Tier | Senas A) The preferred securiies have no hxed redemption date and give the 1ssuer the nght to call the 1ssue at par on 18 March 2010 and
annually thereatter All obligations of the issuer in respect of the preferred secunties are guaranteed on a subordinated basis by the Bank The securties pay fixed non-
cumulative annual dividend of & 75% lor the first two years and non-cumulative annual dividends that are determined based on the ten year Euro swap rata pius a spread
of 0 125% capped at B% theraatter The rate of preferred dividands for the Tier I lssue senes A has been determined to 2 50% for the period 18 March 2012 to 17 March
2013 The preferred dividend must be declared and paid if the Bark daclares a dwvidend The preferred securities are listed on the Luxembourg and Frankfurt Stock
Exchanges

On 2 Novemnber 2005, the Group, through its Special Purpose Entity, ERB Hellas Funding Limited, 1ssued € 400 million preferred secunties which represent Lower Tier |
capital for the Group (Tier 1 Senes B} The preferred securities have no fixed redemption date and give the issuer the nght to call the 1ssue at par an 2 Novernber 2015 and
quarterly thereafter All obligations of the issuer in respect of the preferred secuntigs are guaranieed on a subordinated basis by the Bank The securiies pay fixed non-
cumulative annual dividend of 4 57% for the first ten years and non-cumulative annual dividends that are determined based on the 3manth Eunbor plus a spread of 2 22%
thereafter The preferred dividend must be declared and paid if the Bank declares dividend The prelerred secunties are listed on the London Stock Exchange
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Preferred securities (continued)

On 8 November 2005, the Group, through its Special Purpose Entty, ERB Hellas Funding Limited, 1ssued € 150 million preferred securities which represent Lower Tier t
caputal tor the Group (Tier | Series C} The preferred secunties have no fixed redemption date and give the 1ssuer the night to call the 1ssue at par on 9 January 2011 and
quarterly thereafter All obhgations of the issuer in respect of the preferred secunues are guaranteed on a subordinatad basis by the Bank The secunties pay fixed non
cumulative dividend on a quarterly basis at a rate of 6% per annum The prefarred dwvidend must be declared and pard 1f the Bank declares a dividend The preferred
secunties are listed on the London, Frankfurt and Euronaxt Amsterdam Stock Exchanges

On 21 December 2005, the Group, through s Special Purpose Entity, ERB Hellas Funding Limited, rssued € 50 million preferred secunuies which are consolidated and
torm a single senes with the exising € 150 millon preferred secunties issued on 9 November 2005

On 29 July 2009, the Group, through is Special Purpose Entity, ERB Helias Funding Limited, 1ssued € 300 million preferred secunties which represent Tiar | capital for the
Group (Tier | Senes D) This 15 in accordance with the decision of the Annual Genaral Meeting on 30 June 2009 which allows the Bank to 1ssue in tranches up to € 500
milhon of such secunties The preferred secunties have ne fixed redemplion date and give the issuer the night to calt the 1ssue ahar five years from the 1ssue date and
quarterly thereafter In addiion the secuntes, subject to certain conditions, are canvertible at the option of the bondhalder and the issuer after October 2014 into Eurobank
ordinary shares at a 12% discount to the share market price dunng the penod preceding the exchangs Al ebligations of the 'ssuer in respact of the prelerred secuntes are
guaranteed on a subordinated bas:s by the Bank The secunties pay fixed non-cumulative devidend on a quarterly basis at a rate of 8 25% per annum The preferred
dividend must be daclared and paid if the Bank declares a dividend The preferred secunties are listed on the London Stock Exchange

On 30 Novamber 2009, the Group, through its Special Purpose Entty, ERB Hellas Funding Limited, issued € 100 million preferred secunties which represent Tier | capital
for the Group (Tier | Senies E) The terms and conditions of the i1ssue are similar 10 preferred secunties 1ssued on 29 July 2008 and the conversion option apphes from
February 2015 The prefarred secunties are listed on the London Stock Exchange

The mevement of preferred secunties 1ssued by the Group thraugh its Special Purpose Entity, ERB Hellas Funding Limited, 1s as follows

foeriastal § SeTicsTh) ISericec] BEEEcClcs D)

Balance at 1 January 2012 155
Purchase of preterred secunties (148)
Sale of preferred secuntes - - -
Balance at 31 December 2012 17 7 59 225 59 367

tn February 2012, the Group invited the holders of preferred secunties, senes A B and G to tender existing securities The Group has repurchased an aggregate pancipal
amount of € 325 milhon (Senes A € 71 milion, Senes B € 147 milion, Series C € 107 milllon) The repurchase of preferred secunties has generated a gain for the Group,
increasing its Gore Tier | capital by € 188 milion

As at 31 December 2012, the dividend atinbutable to preferred secunties holders amounted to € 32 million (2011 € 50 millon)
As at 31 December 2012, gain from the redemnption of preterred secunties amounted to € 210 million (2011 € 21 million)

Share options

The Group has granted share options to executive directors, management and employees All options are equity-settled and may be exercised wholly or partly and
converted Into shares, at thesr gwners' option pravided that the vesting requirements are met

In Apnl 2006, the Annual General Meeting approved the estabhshment of an umbrella share options program allowing the Board of Directors (through the Beard's
Remuneration Commitiee) to 1ssue share options within the next 5 years totalling up to 3% of the Bank's shares within the defined framework similar to the share options
1ssued In the past The umbrella program to 1ssue share options expired within 2011 The Repeal Extraordinary General Shareholders' Meeting on 21 November 2007
amended the terms of the program so that throughout its rmplementation the vesting and exercise penods of the share optans may be determined at the discretion of the
Board tollowing recommendation by the Remuneration Committee

The mevement in the number of share options outstanding and their related weightad average exercise pricas are as follows

foECember20i 7]
Balance at 1 January 1154 4,493,749 1157 5,169,129
Expired and/or canceiled 11 87 (1,478 683} 1175 {675,380)
Balance at 31 December and average exercise price per share 1138 3,015,066 1154 4,493,749

Share options cutstanding and exercisable at the end of year have the following expiry dates and exercise prices

. .|_'!1'l'[ cUTIRES

Expiry date - 31 December i share s Kopti L e e o - GIRE
2012 - - 1200 1,289,565
2013 1358 1,215,121 1358 1,268,987
2014 8 90 1,799,945 3 90 1,935,197

1138 3,015,066 11 54 4,493,749
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(a)

(b}

Special reserves

Batance at 1 January

Transfers between reserves
Share capital decrease (nete 37)
Available-for-sale secunties

- net changes i fair value, net of tax - - {167} (187}
- impairment losses on Graek sovere:gn debt transfer to

net profi, net of tax - 250 - 250
- impairment losses on other investmant securitias

transfer to net profit, net of tax - 354 . 354
- transfer 10 net profit, net of tax - {13) - {13)
Cash flow hedges

- nat changes in farr valus, net of tax - {2 - {2)
- transfer to net profit, net of tax - {15) - (15)
Currency translation diferences, net of hedging - 38 38
Value of employes services - - - (1) M
Balance at 31 December 429 1,270 (296) (127) 1,276

Balance at 1 January 429 1,270 {296} (127) 1,276

Transfers between reserves 4 [4)] - (210} (207)
Available-for sale secunties

- net changes wn far value, net of tax - - 129 - 129

- impairment lossas on other Investmant secunties

transfer to net profit, net of tax - - 61 - 61

- transfer to net profit net of tax - - (5} - {5)
Cash flow hedges

- net changes in {air value, net of tax - - {110} - {110}
- transfer to net profit, net of tax - - 46 - a6

Currency translation differences, net of hedging - - - 3 3

Value of employee services - - - {2) {2)
Balance at 31 December 433 1,269 (175) (338) 1,191

Statutery reserves and IAS 39 resarves are not distnbutable Included in IAS 39 reserves as at 31 December 2012 (s € 166 million loss (2011 € 102 million loss) relating to
cash flow hedging reserve

Non-taxed reserves are taxed when distnbuted As at 31 Dacembar 2012, non-taxed reserves include an amount of € 246 milon which consists of € 288 milion which
following Law 3513/2006 were subject to one-off taxation amounting ta € 43 3 milion The Bank has contested the above tasation in the courts

In¢luded in other reserves as at 31 Decembaer 2012 1s € 214 million loss (2011 € 217 million loss) relating to currency translation reserve, net of hedging

Transters of financial assets
The Group enters into transactions by which it transfers recognised financial assets directly to third parties or to SPEs

The Group sells, In exchange for cash, secunties under an agreament to repurchase them ( repos } and assumes a hability to repay to the counterparty the cash received
In additon, the Group pledges, in exchange for cash, securiies and loans and receivables and assumes a liability to repay to the counterparty the cash received The
Group has determined that 1t retains substantially all the nsks and rewards of these financizl assets and thersfore has not derecogrised them The related hability 1s
recogrised in Due to banks (notes 31 and 32) and Due to customers (note 33), as appropriate

The Group enters inta secuntizations of varnious classes of leans {morgage, credit card and small business loans), under which it assumes an obligation to pass on the
cash flows from the loans 1o the holders of the notes The Group has determined that it retans substantally all nsks and rewards of these loans and therefere has not
derecogrised them Moreover, the note halders' recourse 1s imited 1o the transterred loans The related labiity 1s recogmised in Debt 1ssued and other borrowed funds
(nate 34)

Loans and advances 1o banks

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Loans and advances to customers

-securitized loans

-pledged loans under covered bond program

-pledged loans with central and other banks
Investment secunties

33,184 40,070
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a5

Transfers of financizl agsets (continued)

As at 31 December 2012, the Government guarantsed bonds 1ssued by the Group of total face value € 16,276 million (cash value € 11,794 million) under the second
stream of Greek Economy Liquidity Support Program {note 4), which were fully retained by the Group, were pledged to central banks and international financial institutions

In addition, the Group may sell or re-pledge any secunties borrowed or obtained through reverse repos and has an obligaton to return the securiies The counterparty
rataing substantally all tha ngks and rewards of ownership and therefore the securihes are not racognised by the Group As at 31 December 2012, the Group had borrowed
or obtaned through reverse rapos, secunties with far value of € 193 millicn, the majonty of which had been pledged under agreements to repurchase

Moreover, the HFSF had advanced to the Group secunties with fair value € 5,343 million (face vatue € 5,311 millien) on account for the impending recapialisation of the
Bank (note 43}, out of which secuntias with far value of € 4,550 milhion had been pledged under agreements o repurchase

As at 31 Dacember 2012, the cash value of the assets transferred or borrewed by the Group through secunties lending, reverse repo and other agreements (points a, b, ¢
and d) amounted to € 38,086 million while the associated liability from the above transactions amounted to € 32,042 million [notes 31, 32, 33 and 34)

Advance contribution of Hellen:c Financial Stabllity Fund

On 28 May 2012 and 21 December 2012, the HFSF advanced to the Group EFSF notes of face value of € 3,970 million and € 1,341 mulion, on account for the impending
recapitalisation of the Bank {note 8) Under the terms of the relevant presubscription agreements (PSAs), the entire transaction was recorded as a sacunties lending
agreement {off balance sheet)

Operating leases

Leases as lessee - Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows

vk i

Not later than one year 31 1
Later than one year and no later than five years ai i
Later than tive years 4 -

68 2

There are no matenal future minimum sublease payments to be received under non cancellable subleases

Leases as lessor - Non-¢cancellable operating lease rentals are recevable as follows

Not fater than one year
Later than ona year and no later than five years
Later than five years

Included In 2011 figures are operating lease payables related to discontinued operations amounting to € 3 3 milkon

Contingent liabilities and other commitments

Guarantees and standby latters of credit 581 902
Other guarantees and commitments to extend credit 1,046 1,337
Documentary credits 78 161
Capital expenditure 8 7

1,713 2 407

Included in 2011 higures are contingent lrabilities related to discontinued operations amounting o € 367 millon

Legal Proceedings

There were a number of legal proceedings outstanding against the Group as at the year end The Group's management and 1ts legal adwsors believe that the outcome of
the existing lawsuits will not have a significant /mpact on the Group’s financial statements
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46 Segment information

Management has determined the aperating segments based on the internal reports reviewed by the Strategic Planning Group {SPG) that are used to allocale resources
and to assess Its performance in order 1o make strategic decistons The SPG considers the business both from a business unit and geographic perspective
Geographically, management considers the performance of its business m Greece and other countries in Europe (International) Greece 15 further segregated into retail,
wholesale, wealth management, and global and capital markets while International 18 monitored and reviewed on a country basis The Group aggregates segments when
they exhibit similar ecenomic charactenstics and profile and are expected to have similar long-term econami¢ developrnent

With the exception of Greece no other individual country contnbuted more than 10% of consolidated net income The Group 15 orgamized in the following reportable
segments

L] Retall incorporating customer current accounts, savings, deposits and mvestment savings products, credit and debit cards, consumer loans, small business banking
and mortgages

. Corporate incorparating direct debwt faciliies, current accounts, deposits, overdralts, loan and other credi facilities, foreign currency and denvative products to
corporate entives

L4 Wealth Management (ncorporating pnvate banking services, including total wealth management, to medium and high net worth indwduals, insurance, mutual fund
and investment savings products and nstitutional asset management

L Global and Capital Markets incorporating investment banking services including corporate finance, merger and acquisitions advice, custody, equity brokerage,
tinancial instruments trading and institubonal finance to corporate and institutional entities as well as, specalised financial advice and intermediation to private and
large retail Indwviduals as wefl as small and arge corporate entities

L International incorporating operations In Romania, Bulgana, Serbia, Cyprus, Ukraine and Luxembourg Durning the year, the Strategic Planning Group {SPG)
decided the monitoning of the Group's gperations in all European countries in one business segment "International® The new segment includes the Group's foreign
operations in eastern and southeastern Europe (New Europe) and  Luxembourg, previously monitored as par of Greece segment For the year ended 31
December 2012, the profit before tax of the Group’s operations in Luxembourg was € 21 milion (2011 € 31 millon) Cornparative figures have been adjusted
accordingly

Other operations of the Group compnse mamnly of nvesting activities, including property management and investmant and the management of unallocated capital

The Group's management reporting is based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) The accounting pelicies of the Group’s operating segments are the
same with those described In the principal accounting policies

Revenues from transactions between business segments are aflocated on a mutually agreed basis at rates that approximate market prices

46 1 Operating segments

Net interast ncome

Nat commission income 30 59 31 (19) 0 99 - 200
Other net raveriue (0} {2} 42 9 13 32 - 84
Total external revenue 691 467 134 1 {69) 531 - 1,755
Inter-segment revenue 83 24 (60) (40) 32 2 (41} -
Total revenue 774 491 74 (39) (37N 533 a1y 1,755
Operating oxpenses (457) {103) {55) (66) {50) {362) 4 (1,052)
impairment losses on

loans and advances {1,059) {294) {4) 0) {0) {298) - {1,655)

Profit before tax from
continuing oparations

betfore one offs (see note) {742} 94 15 {105) 87 (127) - (952)
One-offs - (52) (51) {458} (175) - . (736)
Profit before tax from

discontinued operations - - - - (112) 12 - {100}
Non controlling interest - - 0 - (13) (1) - (14}

Profit betore tax

atiributable to

shareholders, after ane-

offs (742) 42 (36) (563} (387) {116) - (1,802)
Prolit betore tax

attributable to

shareholders, befare one-

ofts {742) 94 15 {105) (212) 116 - {1,066)
Segment assets 21,270 14,269 2,078 11,710 4,171 14,155 - 67,653
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Segment information (continued)

Operating segments {continued)

Net interest income 1,066 547 4 (86) (65) 509 1,965
Net commission incerme 36 B2 ] a7 0 113 - 274
Cther net revenue 10 (12} 37 13 (78) 17 {13)
Total external revenug 1,112 597 77 (56) (143) 639 2,226
Inter-segment revenue 95 (5) {33) (45) 23 7 [43) -
Total revenue 1,208 592 44 {10%) (120) 645 {43) 2,226
Operating expenses (458) (109} (58) (6Q) (92) (388) 43 (1,123)
Imparrment losses on

loans and advances (943) (146) {2) (0) (0) {237) - (1.328)

Profit before tax from
continuIng operations

belore one offs {see note) {193) 37 (16} (161) (212) 20 - (225)
COne-offs n (162) (228) (5,364) (994) - (6,749)
Profit before tax from

discontinued operations - 173 20 - 193
Non controlling interast - 0 . (13} (€} (13

Profit before tax

attnbutable to

shareholders, after one

offs (194) 175 (244) (5 525) {1 046} 40 (6,794)
Proftt belore tax

atinbutable to

shareholders, betore one-

offs (193) 337 (15) (161} (52) 40 (45)

Segment assets 22 598 15,562 1,855 15,821 3,605 17,291 ?6,823_

Note One-off iems include impairment lassas on Greek sovereign debt and other non recurnng valuation losses

Entity wide disclosures

{a) Analysis ot revenue by category
Breakdown of the Group's revanue for each group of similar products and services is as follows

Lending related activities

Deposits, network and asset management activities
Capital markets

Insurance related activites

Non banking and other services

(b) Geographical information

The following table breaks down the Group's total reveres and total assets based on tha country in which the Group’'s operation 1s located

Greeca
Romania
Bulgana

Other countnes
Total from cantinuing operations 1,755 67,653

Total from discontinued operations 102 - 147 2,222
Total 1,857 67,653 2373 76 822

National Bank of Greece S A Voluntary Tender Otfer (VTQO)

On 15 February 2013, the National Bank of Greece S A (NBG) acquired 84 35%, of Eurabank s votng shares tollowing the successiul completien of a Voluntary Tender
Offer (vTO)} NBG Is the largest bank In Greece and has significant aperations in the South Eastemn European ragion Hs ordinary shares are listed on the Athens Stock
Exchange while ADRs and USD preference shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange (for more details, see www nbg gr)
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National Bank of Greece S A Voluntary Tender Otfer (VTO) (continued)

NBG s intention ta launch a voluntary exchange offer 1o acquire all Eurobank shares offering 58 new ardinary voting shares of NBG for every 100 ordinary veoting shares of
Eurobank tendersd was anncunced on 5 October 2012 NBG also stated that Eurobank shareholders holding 43 6% of Eurobank's ordinary share capital had commutted to
tender therr shares in the tender offer

The General Maeting of the shareholders of NBG appraved, on 23 November 2012, the increase of NBG's share capital, and the 1ssuance of new ordinary shares to be
offered to Eurcbank's ordinary shareholders who would accept NBG s VTO at the offered exchange ratio Following the approval of relevant offanng documentation by the
Greek Capital Market Commission, the VTQ was launched on 11 January 2013 The Bank's Board of Directors, assisted by its financial advisers, considered the ments of
the business combination in the interest of all stakeholders, including employees, customers, shareholders and the Greek economy, and the terms and corditions of the
exchange offer and 1ssued Is reasoned opinion thereon as required by Law 3461/2006 on 11 January 2013

All required approvals and/or clearances by the Bank of Greece, the Greek Competition Commission, the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund and the European Commission —
DG Competition (State Aid) were obtained by 14 February 2013 The VTO acceptance pencd ended on 15 February 2013 at which date 466,397,790 shares were
tendered

As stated n the VTO documentation, the VTO will be followed by the merger of the two banks In ine with this, on 19 March 2013, the boards of Eurgbank and NBG
resolved to Initiate the merger process, with NBG absorbing Eurobank, and set 31 December 2012 as the merger reference date The merger 1s expecied to be completed
In a few months

Other significant and post balance sheel events

On 22 May 2012, the Second Repeal Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Alpha Bank aborted the mergsr procedure with Eurgbank and recalled Alpha Bank's General
Meeting decisions on 15 November 2011

Under Law 3864/2012 as amended by Law 4093/2012, that was enacted in Navember 2012, the banks receving financial support from HFSF are required to make a lump
sum payment to HFSF totalling to € 556 million According to the relevant presubscnipton agreement signed with HFSF on 21 December 2012, Eurobank's portion was
determined at € 154 milhon, which was paid on 21 December 2012 The lump sum payment ta HFSF has been presented within other assets and will be deducted from the
Group s equity upon the completion of the recapitalisation process (note 30)

Group's operations in Cyprus

The Group operates in Cyprus through its subsidiary, Eurobank Cyprus Ltd (subsidrary) The subsidiary's operations are currently camed out through a network of seven
banking centres, focusing in Wholesale Banking and International Business Banking exclusively

The total assets of the subsidiary stand at € 4 2 bn, out of which, €1 7 bn, only relate 1o assets in Cyprus The capital base of the subsidiary amounts to € 570 millon, while
the capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2012, stood at the very strang levels of 32 48%, which, combined with the very good quality of the loan portfolio, strengthen
the shield toward the nsks of the current economic condiions

On 15 March 2013, the deposits of the subsidiary amounted to € 29 bn, while the amount of loans 1o € 15 bn, out of which, € 0 7 bn 1s fully cash cellateralised The
subsidiary maintains strong hiquichty, with cash invested in low nsk short-term investments, outside Cyprus, amounting te € 1 7 bn According to the recent decisions of the
Eurogroup and the Authorities of the Republic of Cyprus, none of the deposits of the customers of the subsidiary suffer any impainnent or tevy The subsidiary maintains
high lrquidity rates and butfers, significantly above the minimum reguiatory imits, which enables it to withstand, even in extreme scenanos of deposits’ decrease

The Group = operating income rano from ite actvites in Cyprus, corresponds to 5 7% of its total operating income

Both the Group as a whole, as well as its subsidiary bank in Cyprus do not hold deposis at the Bank of Cyprus or the CPBin Cyprus The Group's exposure 1o securties of
these banks 15 less than € 4 millien

Information on macroeconomic developments in Cyprus 1S available in the Directors' report

Datalls of other significant post balance sheet evenis are also provided in the lollowing notes

Nate 4 Greek Economy Liquidity Support Program

Note 15-Income tax

Note 27-Shares In subsidrary underiakings

Note 34-Dabt issued and other barrowed funds

Mate 47-National Bank of Greece S A Veluntary Tender Offer (VTQO)
Note 50-Board of Directors

Related party transactions

Until 23 July 2012, the Bank was a member of the EFG Group, having as operating parent company the “European Financial Group EFG {Luxembeusg) § A " and ultimate
parent company the “Private Financial Holdings Limited”, the latter owned and cantralled ndirectly by members of the Latsis family In particular, the EFG Group held
44 70% of the Bank's ordinary shares and voting nghts, through whoily owned subsidianes of the ulmate parent company and the remamning ordinary shares and voting
nghts were hald by institutional and retail Investors, none ot which, to the knowledge of the Bank, held 5% or more

©On 23 July 2012, 43 55% of the ordinary shares and voting nghis held by EFG Group were transierred to ten legal entiies, each of which acquired approximately 4 4%,
while the EFG Group retained the remaring 1 15% These enilies bave formally stated they ase independent from each other As a resuit, from 23 July 2012 onwards,
Eurobank ceased to be under EFG Group s cantrol and will no longer be consclidated 1n the financial staterents of the EFG Group In addition, the Bank’s comorate and
trade name have already bean amended in order to ne longe: include the “EFG™ suffix

In the context of the separation of the Eurobank Group from the EFG Group, the live EFG Group naminated Board members of Eurobank resigned trom the Board On 21
September 2012 the Board elected Mrs Angelki Frangou and Messrs George Dawd and Nicholas Stassinopoules as new BoD members, with a term equal to the
remaining term of the resigned members

A number of banking transactions are entered into with ralated partias in the normal course of business and are conducted on an arm's length basis These include loans,
deposits and guarantees In addition, as part of its normal course of business in Investmeant banking actvities, the Group at tmes may hold posiions i debt and equity
instruments of related parties The volume of refated party transactions and outstanding balances at the year end are as follows
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49 Related party transactions (continued)
Dernvative inancial instruments assets -
Investment securnities - - - 82 - 7
Loans and advances to custormers ‘" - 1 26 1 15 335
Due to banks - - . 54 R R
Due to customers " - 12 20 4 42 345
Ciher hlabiities - 1 - Qo 1 0
Net intarast incoms 1 {0} 0 5 (1) {2}
Net banking fee and commission income (0} 0 0 0 - 0
Other operating incomef{expanse) {0} (] {0) {5) {0) {0)
Guarantees issued . . 1 272 . 2
Guarantees received - 4] - 2n 0 50
Mas at 31 December 2012, Ioans and advances to customens are covered by cash ¢otateral amounting to € ril (2011 € 211 million)
1#¢ay management personnel includes directors and kay management pergonnal of the Group and its parent and ther close lamily members
No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties
Key management compensation (directors and other key management personnel of the Group)
Key management personnel are entitled to compensation n the form of short-term employee benefits of € 6 8 miflion (2011 € 7 3 milhen) and fong term employee benefits
of € 0 5 millien out of which € 0 1 millon are share-based payments (2011 € 1 8 million and € 1 3 million respectively}

50 Board of Directors

Foliowing the resignation of 5 members of the Board of Directors, on 23 July 2012, and the elaction of 5 new members in replacement of resigned ones {note 49), on 19
March 2013, the Board was reconstituted as a body, as follows

E N Chnstodoulou

Chairman (non executive)

G C Gondicas Vice & Honorary Chairman (non executive)

A ML J Latsis Vice Chairman (non executive untl 23 July 2012)

N C Nanopoulos Chiet Executive Officer

B N Balis Deputy Chief Executive Officar

M H Colaldes Deputy Chief Executive Officer

N V' Karamouzis Deputy Chief Executive Ctficer

N K Pavidis Executive

G A Dawd" Non Executive {(appointed as of 21 September 2012)
O G Dimopoulos Non Executive (appointed as of 19 March 2013)

A N Frangou™ Mon Executive {(appointed as of 21 September 2012)
P K Mylonas Non Exegutive (appointed as of 19 March 2013}

N M Stassinopoulos Non Executive (appointed as of 21 September 2012)
F § Antonalos Non Exacutive {until 23 July 2012)

E L Bussenl Non Executive (until 23 July 2012)

5 J Latsis Non Executive (until 23 July 2012}

P P Petalas Non Executive (until 23 July 2012)

5 L Lorentziadis Independent Non Executive

A J Martinos Independent Non Executive

O T Papalexopoulos independent Non Executive

P ¥ Tndimas Independent Non Executive

0 A Georgoutsos Non Executive (appointed under Law 3723/2008)

C M Glavanis MNon Executive (appointed as of 6 June 2012 under Law 3864/2010)

The term of all members of the Board of Directors expires at the Annual General Meeting which will take place in 2013

"he Board at its meeung of 31 Octaber 2012, assessed that Mrs A Frangou and Mr G David meet the independence cntena set by Law for their designation as Non
Executive Independent Directors The next General Meeting of the shareholders of the Bank will be called to ratify their designation accordingly
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)

Dividends
Fina!l dwvidends are not accourted for until they have been ratiied by the Annual General Mesting
Under Law 3756/2009, as amended by Law 3844/2010 and supplementad by Laws 3965/2011 and 4063/2012, banks participating tn the Greek Economy Liquidhty Support
Program are not allowed to declare a cash dividend to therr ordinary sharsholders for 2008 10 2011 The restnction regarding the declaration of a cash dividend 1s extended
to 2012 via a legis'ative provision, which 1s expected to be enacted by the Parkament shorly Based on the 2012 results and aricle 44a of Company Law 2190/1920, the
Directors do no recommend the distribution of dividends to either ordinary or preterence shareholders (note 38)
Athens, 27 March 2013
Efthymlos N Christodoulou Nicholas C Nanopoulos Paula N HedJisctiriou Harrls V Kokologiannia
| D No AB - 049358 1D No AE 586794 1 D No AK - 221300 1D No AK - 021124
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS GHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER HEAD OF GROUP FINANCE & CONTROL
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m Audited accounts

Audited accounts Have the accounts been audited in accordance with a set of generally accepted
auditing standards?

Please tick the appropriate box
[] No Goto Part 3 'Ssignature’

Yes Please enter the name of the organisation or ather body which 1ssued
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n important information
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Contact
| ettt ¢ Galvin

| Company name

| Address

Eurobank Ergasias SA

1st Floor
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l fostown | ondon
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= Wl [ fswinNT

Country

|nx

| Telephone

020 7973 8630
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